
 
 

 
i 

 
Cambridge City Council 

Environment and Community Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Date:  Thursday, 6 October 2022 

Time:  5.30 pm 

Venue:  Council Chamber, The Guildhall, Market Square, Cambridge, CB2 
3QJ 

Contact:   democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk, tel:01223 457000 
 
Agenda 
 

1    Apologies for Absence  

2    Declarations of Interest  

3    Minutes (Pages 5 - 22) 

4    Public Questions  

Decisions for the Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, Food Justice 
and Community Development 

5    Petition - Maple Tree St Matthews Street  

 A petition has been received containing over 50 valid signatures 
stating the following: 
 

Subject 
Mature Silver Maple tree on St Matthew's Street (Petersfield), 
almost opposite the Cherry Trees Day Centre. The wording of 
the Petition reads: 
 
We, the undersigned petition for a 'Tree Preservation Order’ in 
favour of, and for the permanent protection of the beautiful, 
healthy, mature maple tree on St 'Mathew's Street, Cambridge - 
for all circumstances. 
 
56 signatures were collected for this petition during less than 24 
hours over 21-22 August 2022. Signatures were eagerly given 
by passing local residents, appalled that this tree seemed under 
threat of felling. No door-to-door collecting was involved. 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 
ii 

Action 
Issuing a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) for this tree. We would 
like this Petition to be submitted to the relevant Executive 
Councillor at the next Environment and Community Scrutiny 
Committee meeting (on 6th October 2022). Cllr Thornburrow, 
one of our ward Councillors, has confirmed she is happy to 
present this Petition to the Scrutiny Committee for us. 

 

 
The petition organiser will be given 5 minutes to present the petition at 
the meeting and the petition will then be discussed by Councillors for 
a maximum of 15 minutes. 
 

Decisions for the Executive Councillor for Environment, Climate Change 
and Biodiversity 

6    Waterbeach Renewable Energy Network (WREN) 
Solar Project (Pages 23 - 30) 

7    Climate Change Strategy and Carbon Management 
Plan Annual Report 2021/22 

(Pages 31 - 
104) 

8    Response to Question on Recycling Rates/Residual 
Waste 

(Pages 105 - 
110) 

9    Report on Progress of Environmental Services New 
Approach on Investigating Noise Complaints 

(Pages 111 - 
118) 

 



 

 
iii 

 
 
 

Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee Members: Pounds 
(Chair), Carling (Vice-Chair), Copley, Divkovic, Hauk, Holloway, Payne, 
Sweeney and Swift 

Alternates: S. Baigent, Todd-Jones, Howard, Lee and Levien 

Executive Councillors: Collis (Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, 
Food Justice and Community Development), Healy (Executive Councillor 
for Equalities, Anti-Poverty and Wellbeing) and Moore (Executive Councillor 
for Environment, Climate Change and Biodiversity) 

 

Information for the public 
The public may record (e.g. film, audio, tweet, blog) meetings which are open 
to the public.  
 
For full information about committee meetings, committee reports, councillors 
and the democratic process:  

 Website: http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk  

 Email: democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk 

 Phone: 01223 457000 
 
Public health and well-being for meeting arrangements 

This Meeting will be live streamed to the Council’s YouTube page. Those  
wishing to address the meeting will also be able to do so virtually via  
Microsoft Teams, or by attending to speak in person. 
 
Should you have to attend in person, we always ask you to maintain social  
distancing. Hand sanitiser will be available on entry to the meeting. 
 
If members of the public wish to address the committee either virtually or in 
person, you must  contact Democratic Services 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk by 12 noon two working days before 
the meeting. 

 

http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee 
 Thursday, 26 May 2022 

 

 
 
 

1 

ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 26 May 2022 
 4.40  - 4.44 pm 
 
Present:  Councillors Pounds (Chair), Gawthrope Wood (Vice-Chair), Copley, 
Divkovic, Hauk, Holloway, Sweeney, Collis (Executive Councillor), Gilderdale 
(Executive Councillor), Healy (Executive Councillor) and Moore (Executive 
Councillor) 
 

FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE COUNCIL 

22/27/EnC Appointment to Outside Bodies 
 
The Scrutiny Committee recommended appointments to the Executive 
Councillors. 
 
The Executive Councillors agreed the appointments. 
 
The Junction (Observer Status) 
1 Labour, 1 Liberal Democrat 
 
Councillors - Pounds, Lee 
 
Cambridge BID 
1 Labour 
 
Councillor - Gilderdale 
 
Adults and Health Committee 
1 Labour, 1 Liberal Democrat (Alternate member) 
 
Councillor - Gawthrope Wood 
Alternate Councillor - Nethsingha 
 
Cambridge Community Safety Partnership 
1 Labour, 1 Alternate 
 
Councillors - Gilderdale,  
Alternate Councillor - TBC 
 
Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel 
1 Labour, 1 Labour Alternate 

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 26 May 2022 

 

 
 
 

2 

 
Councillors – Gilderdale,  
Alternate Councillor - S.Baigent 
 
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Council of 
Governors 
1 Labour 
 
Councillor - Healy 
 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Military Covenant Board 
1 Labour 
 
Councillor – Davey 
 
Clay Farm Advisory Group 
1 Labour, 2 Lib Dem 
 
Councillors – TBC, Flaubert, Hauk  
 
Storey’s Field Community Trust 
2 Labour, 1 Lib Dem 
 
Councillors – S.Smith, TBC, Nethsingha 
 
Recycling in Cambridge and Peterborough (RECAP) 
1 Labour 
 
Councillor – Moore 
 
Cambridge Airport Consultative Committee 
1 Member 
 
Councillor – TBC 
 
Abbey People 
1 Member 
 
Councillor - TBC 

22/28/EnC Appointment to Working Party 
 

Page 6



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 26 May 2022 

 

 
 
 

3 

The Scrutiny Committee agreed the nominations below: 
 
Equalities Panel 
3 Labour, 2 Liberal Democrat 
  
Councillors – Smart, Thittala Varkey, Healy, Porrer, Payne,  
Alternate Councillor - Flaubert 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 4.44 pm 
 
 
 
 

CHAIR 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/1
 Thursday, 30 June 2022 

 

 
 
 

1 

ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 30 June 2022 
 5.30  - 8.10 pm 
 
Present:  Councillors Pounds (Chair), Carling (Vice-Chair), S. Baigent, Copley, 
Divkovic, Hauk, Holloway, Payne and Swift 
 
Executive Councillors: Collis (Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, Food 
Justice and Community Development) and Healy (Executive Councillor for 
Equalities, Anti-Poverty and Wellbeing) 
 
Officers:  
Director of Neighbourhoods and Communities: Jane Wilson 
Head of Community Services: Debbie Kaye 
Community Funding and Voluntary Sector Manager: Julie Cornwell 
Community, Sport & Recreation Manager: Ian Ross 
Development Manager, Streets & Open Spaces: Alistair Wilson 
Strategy and Partnerships Manager: David Kidston 
Nature Conservation Projects Officer: Guy Belcher 
Committee Manager: Gary Clift 
 
 

FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE COUNCIL 

 

22/29/EnC Apologies for Absence 
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Sweeney. 

22/30/EnC Declarations of Interest 
 

Name Item Interest 

Councillor Copley 22/35/EnC Personal- supported a resident 

Platinum Jubille Grant in the 

ward. 

 

22/31/EnC Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meetings held on 27 January and 24 March 2022 were 
approved as correct records and signed by the Chair. 

Public Document Pack

Page 9



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/2 
Thursday, 30 June 2022 

 

 
 
 

2 

22/32/EnC Public Questions 
 
The Chair advised questions submitted that could not be covered in the time 
allocated would be answered by email.  
 
 
Antony Carpen: 

Re item S106 Community Facilities Funding to The Junction, please could I 

ask executive councillor to provide an update on where The Junction is, given 

the decision around two years ago at 

https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=22613&O

pt=0  

 

The Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, Food Justice and Community 
Development stated that the project was put on hold due to the pandemic and 
was not progressed to RIBA stage 1 level. The Council took the decision to 
terminate the tender proposals late 2021 and the Junction were kept informed 
of this process. The pandemic meant that the project had been delayed for 
over a year, and a number of factors came into the discussion and have 
informed the decision process. 
 
The Council is now developing a Recovery Strategy to outline the vision for the 
City in the future, and that, alongside the emerging Cultural Infrastructure 
Strategy, will provide the strategic framework for future cultural and creative 
needs. When the Council developed the project specification for the RIBA 
stage 1 designs, it was timed to be able to take advantage of the Arts Council 
England (ACE) major capital funding programme, and although there was no 
guaranteed funding to deliver it per se, this funding stream is now no longer 
open as ACE resources have had to be diverted to meet pandemic related 
requirements by the Arts Council. At this stage it seems unlikely that future 
ACE project funds will have a similar scale of capital investment available to 
them.  
 
The Council also needs to consider its own activity and support across 
services in future, in the light of the financial constraints it faces post 
pandemic, and with changes in Government support. The Council will continue 
to work with The Cambridge Junction as a key stakeholder to inform and 
shape a wider city centre recovery plan particularly in regard to the cultural and 
creative sector needs, locations and development opportunities.  
 

Page 10

https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=22613&Opt=0
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=22613&Opt=0


Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/3 
Thursday, 30 June 2022 

 

 
 
 

3 

The Council is still keen to support the potential for additional development of 
the Cambridge Junction and continues to liaise closely with Cambridge 
Junction Board and inform them of any opportunities that arise where we can 
support future redevelopment, and the investment of Local S106 Community 
funds proposed in the report today, is an example of that continued 
relationship to provide a wider range of public facilities with partners around 
the City. 
 
Martin Lucas-Smith: 

During the Planning Committee meeting on 14th June 2022, it was revealed 

that the council has signed a 5-year contract with the operators of the 

observation wheel on Parker's Piece. 

The siting of a wheel for almost half a year for five years cannot in any sense 

be considered 'temporary'. There is a clear public policy question here, as to 

whether green spaces, so valued by many, should have long-term distracting 

metal structures added to what are formally designated as open space. 

Does the committee agree that this is a matter which would normally be 

subject to public consultation? There is significant public debate about the 

appropriateness of such a structure for such a long period of time. 

Has there been any public consultation or publicly-attendable meeting about 

the principle of siting a wheel on Parker's Piece? 

Was this decision to sign a contract taken by any committee, and if not, why 

not? 

My questions are not about the planning process, and I would ask members of 

the committee not to try to muddy the water in commenting on that. The 

questions are specifically about the public policy vs commercial objectives of 

the council irrespective of any formal planning application. 

 

Cllr Copley: 

What was the decision making process on the signing of a contract for the 

Ferris wheel on Parker’s piece and who was consulted, and what specifically 

they were consulted on?  

 

A planning application to allow an observation wheel to be sited on Parker’s 

Piece for the next four summers was approved at a planning committee by 

councillors at a Cambridge City Council planning meeting on Tuesday, June 

14. Cambridge Independent reported that more than 80 objections were 

Page 11



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/4 
Thursday, 30 June 2022 

 

 
 
 

4 

received from members of the public, and two Market ward councillors (Cllr 

Bick and Cllr Porrer) also speaking against the proposal.  

However, during the planning meeting, it came to light that a contract had 

already been signed by the City Council for a five year period “Mr Sherwood 

said there is a contractual agreement between the council and the applicant for 

a five-year operation”.  

This question is not about the planning process, but about the decision making 

that resulted in the contract having already been signed for a five year period, 

ahead of this planning application being approved.  

The timing means that the decision had already been made (as before subject 

to planning permission approval), for the wheel to be sited on Parker’s piece 

without any consultation with members of the public. Furthermore, although 

ward councillors were consulted on the observation in 2020, the email I have 

been sent a copy of detailed the duration of the wheel being proposed as 

follows: “We have had an offer of a Observation Wheel visit in 2021 for a few 

months”.  

I have seen no evidence that ward councillors, or residents of Cambridge were 

consulted on what is in practicing privatising part of Parker’s piece for much for 

the year for five consecutive years. The wheel is a large imposing structure, 

and due to its height and scale dissuades people from sitting near to it or in the 

shadow it casts, thus it has a direct impact on a much larger area of land than 

the specific footprint.  

A freedom of information request has shown that the contract was then signed 

on 10th May 2021 with details specified in the attached documents (both these 

documents are in the public domain on whatdotheyknow website). The dates 

specified were:  8th May 2021 - 19th September 2021, and 2022 - 2025.  

My questions are as follows:  

a) Why did the council think it was justified to go ahead and sign this contract 

without any form of consultation with residents about whether they want their 

park to be partly-privatised?  

(NB I am not asking about the planning application - I am asking about the 

contract signing which happened well before.) 

b) Why does the council not think this decision deserved to be scrutinised (for 

example at an Environment and Community Scrutiny committee)? 

c) Were Market Ward Councillors consulted ahead of the contract being 

signed, beyond the email I have seen which specified “for a few months”? 

Page 12



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/5 
Thursday, 30 June 2022 

 

 
 
 

5 

 

 

The Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, Food Justice and Community 

Development replied: 

The use of open spaces for increased income was agreed in the Budget 

Setting Report at Council February 2021 and the then Executive Councillor for 

Planning Policy and Open Spaces gave in principal approval to enter into a 

contract for the Wheel in March 2021 subject to the applicant obtaining the 

necessary approvals/permissions.  Officers had delegated powers to issue a 

licence to use the Council’s open spaces.  Ward councillors had been 

consulted in December 2020 with no objections or comments received to the 

consultation.  At all stages of the approval process the Council’s Constitution 

had been followed. 

 

Mr Lucas-Smith asked a supplementary concerning the consultation with ward 

councillors over the approval for the Wheel.  Cllr Copley also queried if Ward 

Councillors had the opportunity to comment on a 5 year approval rather than 

what originally appeared as one year (16 week) use.  Accepting that nothing 

can be undone, Cllr Copley asked the Executive Councillor to ensure that it is 

made much clearer to relevant stakeholders, including ward councillors, what 

the intentions and implications of such use of the Council’s open spaces will be 

prior to such decisions being taken by an Executive Councillor or officers 

under delegated powers. 

 

Jean Glasberg (asked by Wendy Blythe): 

Re. Minutes of the meeting held on 24th March (Public Art Strategy) I am 

speaking again on behalf of both the Federation of Cambridge Residents 

 Association (FeCRA) and Friends of the River Cam regarding 

the recommendation to allocate up to a further £150,000  to the ‘To the River’ 

project in addition to the £120,000 already spent. The focus on what would be 

a 'visitor attraction’ seems misguided, and the concerns we raised at that 

meeting were about the environmental impact the proposed work would have 

on Sheeps Green, where the river and view are loved by many residents and 

visitors, and do not need ‘enhancing’.  

Page 13



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/6 
Thursday, 30 June 2022 

 

 
 
 

6 

At the meeting it was stated that Public Art is particularly important for people 

from disadvantaged communities, yet this project is planned for what is 

already the most the most privileged part of the city. 

It was also said that Public Art is inevitably controversial and divides public 

opinion, yet this does not seem to be the case here where the overwhelming 

majority are opposed to the proposals. 

A survey in the Cambridge Independent found 84% against and only 16% in 

favour of the plan, and a petition asking that no more money should be spent 

on this project now has 538 signatures. It is clear from the comments that it is 

felt to be harmful to the river and nature reserve, and that people feel this 

section 106 money should be spent instead on something that would really be 

of benefit to Cambridge people, particularly in less prosperous areas. 

Councillor Healy said that, This is for the public ultimately to decide'  and 

Councillor Anna Smith assured us that ’The Council will absolutely honour the 

results of the consultation’,  so our question is: 

In the interests of transparency and democracy will the results of that 

consultation and the views expressed  be made public, will the deliberations of 

the Art Panel reviewing the project  be open to residents, and will their 

recommendation be brought back to this committee so that there is scrutiny of 

a decision that involves spending so much public money? 

 

The Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, Food Justice and Community 

Development replied that: 

The results of the consultation will be made public and a report on the project 

would come back to the scrutiny committee.   

 

Wendy Blythe – referencing previous meeting minutes, is the vision for the 

Market Square civic or income generation, noting at a market liaison forum 

earlier in the week officers had mentioned work with a think tank. 

The Director for Neighbourhoods and Communities replied that an internal 

paper had been produced by the council’s cultural services team who lead on 

the council’s arts and entertainment offer, to help inform thinking on proposals 

for the Market Square.  The council was not working with the think tank 

referred to by the questioner. 

 

Page 14



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/7 
Thursday, 30 June 2022 

 

 
 
 

7 

Wendy Blythe asked a supplementary which the Chair requested be submitted 

by email and an answer would be provided. 

22/33/EnC Single Equality Scheme Annual Report 2021/22 
 
Matter for Decision 
The current Single Equality Scheme (SES) covers the period from 2021 to 
2024. The council produced the SES in order to set equality objectives and 
therefore to ensure transparency and assist in the performance of its Public 
Sector Equality Duty (Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010). 
 
The Officer’s report presented information to demonstrate compliance with the 
Public Sector Equality Duty by providing an update on progress in delivering 
key actions set out in the SES for 2021/22. It also proposes some new actions. 
 
Decision of Executive Councillor for Equalities, Anti-Poverty and 
Wellbeing 

i. Noted the progress in delivering equalities actions during 2021/22. 

ii. Approved the new actions proposed for delivery during 2022/23 (see 

point 3.5 in the Officer’s report). 

 
Reason for the Decision 
As set out in the Officer’s report. 
 
Any Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
Not applicable. 
 
Scrutiny Considerations 
 
The Strategy and Partnerships replied to questions from Members: 

 

Work on period poverty in 2021 had led to sanitary products being available at 
all council community centres. 

Face to face customer interaction at the customer service centre had reduced 
since re-opening compared to pre-pandemic numbers, the officer was still 
awaiting the full detail from officer colleagues and would provide it to the 
committee after the meeting. 

A number of information questions will require clarification with officer 
colleagues following the meeting on consultation on female rough sleepers, 
Open Spaces Forum, Ask Angela. 

Page 15



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/8 
Thursday, 30 June 2022 

 

 
 
 

8 

The GRT accommodation needs assessment work is still at a research stage, 
and the work is led by South Cambridgeshire District Council and there is no 
date as yet for this to be presented to Members. 

 
The Committee unanimously resolved to endorse the recommendations. 
 
The Executive Councillor approved the recommendations. 
 
Conflicts of Interest Declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
Dispensations Granted) 
No conflicts of interest were declared by the Executive Councillor. 
 

22/34/EnC Anti-Poverty Strategy Annual Report 2022/23 
 
Matter for Decision 
The Officer’s report provided an update on delivery of key actions in the 
Council’s third Anti-Poverty Strategy, which covers the period 2020-2023. 
During 2021/22 the Council has delivered a range of planned actions to help 
address a range of issues associated with poverty, including low pay, debt, 
food poverty, fuel poverty, digital inclusion, skills, employment, housing 
affordability, homelessness, and poor health outcomes. 
 
Decision of Executive Councillor for Equalities, Anti-Poverty and 
Wellbeing 

i. Noted the progress in delivering actions to reduce poverty in Cambridge 

during 2021/22. 

ii. Agreed to extend the end date of the existing Anti-Poverty Strategy from 

March 2023 to March 2024. 

 
Reason for the Decision 
As set out in the Officer’s report. 
 
Any Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
Not applicable. 
 
Scrutiny Considerations 
 
In response to questions, the Strategy and Partnerships Manager stated that: 
 

Page 16



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/9 
Thursday, 30 June 2022 

 

 
 
 

9 

Although there was no proposal to adopt the socio-economic duty, the strategy 
was developing an on-going range of approaches to tackle the current cost of 
living emergency.  The Council’s equalities impact assessment is being 
adapted to take into account the socio-economic impact of the council’s 
policies and actions. 
There will be on-going updates for Members on the impact of the cost of living 
crisis including the heating/housing issues which will be faced this winter. 
 
The Committee unanimously resolved to endorse the recommendations. 
 
The Executive Councillor approved the recommendations. 
 
Conflicts of Interest Declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
Dispensations Granted) 
No conflicts of interest were declared by the Executive Councillor. 

22/35/EnC Community Grants Review 
 
Matter for Decision 
The Community Grants priorities are reviewed periodically to ensure they 
remain relevant and align with the Councils Corporate Plan and wider 
objectives. Similarly, the Grant procedures are reviewed annually as part of a 
continuous improvement process, taking into account feedback from 
applicants and the experience of the Grants Team. 
 
As reported to Environment and Scrutiny Committee on 27th January 2022, 
the focus on the next Grants Review will be to ensure it aligns with the 
Council’s future priorities and outcomes as identified through the ‘Our 
Cambridge’ transformation programme. 
 
To enable the ‘Our Cambridge’ work to develop and conversations with 
community groups to begin, whilst at the same time allowing for continuous 
improvements as usual, a two-phase Grants Review is proposed. 
 
Decision of Executive Councillor for Equalities, Anti-Poverty and 
Wellbeing 

i. Approved the changes to the Community Grants programme proposed in 

Phase 1 of the Community Grants Review, namely:  

Page 17



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/10 
Thursday, 30 June 2022 

 

 
 
 

10 

a. The introduction of a ‘light touch’ small grants application process 

for awards of £2,000 and under as set out at point 4 of the Officer’s 

report. 

ii. Noted the broader review work required in Phase 2 which will be 

developed alongside the ‘Our Cambridge’ transformation programme. 

 
Reason for the Decision 
As set out in the Officer’s report. 
 
Any Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
Not applicable. 
 
Scrutiny Considerations 
 
 

 
The Committee unanimously resolved to endorse the recommendations. 
 
 
The Executive Councillor approved the recommendations. 
 
Conflicts of Interest Declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
Dispensations Granted) 
No conflicts of interest were declared by the Executive Councillor. 

22/36/EnC Biodiversity Strategy 
 
Matter for Decision 
In July 2021 the Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, Sustainable Food and 
Community Wellbeing approved use of a draft Biodiversity Strategy for public 
consultation. 
 
The Biodiversity Strategy consultation, research and evaluations are now 
complete, and this report sets out the summary of the findings in relation to the 
draft Biodiversity Strategy. 
 
Decision of Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, Food Justice and 
Community Development 

i. Noted the stated ambitions and approve the adoption of the Biodiversity 

Strategy (2022 – 2030) and accompanying Action Plan. 

Page 18



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/11 
Thursday, 30 June 2022 

 

 
 
 

11 

ii. Allocated responsibility for delivery and monitoring of the Action Plan to 

the Executive Councillor for Environment, Climate Change and 

Biodiversity.  

 
Reason for the Decision 
As set out in the Officer’s report. 
 
Any Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
Not applicable. 
 
Scrutiny Considerations 
The Committee unanimously resolved to endorse the recommendations. 
 
The Executive Councillor approved the recommendations. 
 
Conflicts of Interest Declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
Dispensations Granted) 
No conflicts of interest were declared by the Executive Councillor. 

22/37/EnC S106 Community Facilities Funding to the Junction 
 
Matter for Decision 
The Officer’s report proposed to provide a grant to The Junction towards its 
£120,000 project (which is ready to implemented) to improve its community 
facilities for use by local groups and residents beyond its function as an arts 
and music venue. This would be funded primarily from specific S106 developer 
contributions (aimed at mitigating the impact of development) which already 
stipulate improvements to community facilities at The Junction as their 
purpose. The funding will provide a range of adaptations to the ground and first 
floors within the J2 building at the Junction to provide enhanced meeting 
areas, storage, and furniture suitable for a range of community use activities 
and public use within The Junction. 
 
Decision of Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, Food Justice and 
Community Development 
Allocate £113,185 of S106 community facilities funding (as detailed in financial 
implications in paragraphs 4.1 to 4.3, subject to business case approval and a 
community use agreement), as a grant to The Junction towards its 
improvement project to provide enhanced and furnished meeting areas and 
associated storage space at its J2 building. 
 

Page 19



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/12 
Thursday, 30 June 2022 

 

 
 
 

12 

Reason for the Decision 
As set out in the Officer’s report. 
 
Any Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
Not applicable. 
 
Scrutiny Considerations 

 
The Committee unanimously resolved to endorse the recommendations. 
 
 
The Executive Councillor approved the recommendations. 
 
Conflicts of Interest Declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
Dispensations Granted) 
No conflicts of interest were declared by the Executive Councillor. 

22/38/EnC Review Update for Future Community Development Services 
and Community Centres Management 
 
Matter for Decision 
Following decisions made by the Executive Councillor for Communities in 
October 20211 and March 20222, this report sets out an updated direction of 
travel for the council’s community development service, services for children 
and young people, and community centres. The reviews in each area are 
being undertaken as part of the council’s Our Cambridge transformation 
programme. 
 
Decision of Executive Councillor for Open Spaces, Food Justice and 
Community Development 

i. Noted the findings emerging from Community Services review work. 

ii. Approved the future direction of travel and approach for community 

development services including priority work with children, young people, 

and families, and for community centres management. 

iii. Agreed to proceed with the consultation with staff on proposals for a 

staffing restructure for community development, ChYPPS and 

community facilities, in accordance with the council’s organisational 

change policy and, in so doing, seek to maximise opportunities for 

affected staff and minimise redundancies. 

 

Page 20



Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee EnvCm/13 
Thursday, 30 June 2022 

 

 
 
 

13 

Reason for the Decision 
As set out in the Officer’s report. 
 
Any Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
Not applicable. 
 
Scrutiny Considerations 
 
The Committee unanimously resolved to endorse the recommendations. 
 
The Executive Councillor approved the recommendations. 
 
Conflicts of Interest Declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
Dispensations Granted) 
No conflicts of interest were declared by the Executive Councillor. 

 
The meeting ended at 8.10 pm 

 
 

CHAIR 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



 

WATERBEACH RENEWABLE ENERGY NETWORK                   

(WREN) SOLAR PROJECT 

To: 
Councillor Rosy Moore, Executive Councillor for Climate Change, 
Environment and City Centre 
Environment & Community Scrutiny Committee   06/10/2022 

Report by: 

Dave Prinsep, Head of Property Services   

Tel: 01223 457318, Email: dave.prinsep@cambridge.gov.uk  

Janet Fogg, Climate Change Officer                                                             

Tel: 01223 457176, Email: janet.fogg@cambridge.gov.uk  

Wards affected: 

All 

 

Key Decision 

1. Executive Summary 
 

1.1 The Greater Cambridge Shared Waste Service (GCSWS) for 
Cambridge City Council (CCC) and South Cambridgeshire District 
Council (SCDC) has firm policy commitments to decarbonise the fleet of 
refuse collection vehicles by 2030 and CCC has set a target to reduce 
its direct carbon emissions from corporate buildings, fleet vehicles and 
business travel to net zero carbon emissions by 2030.  
 

1.2 A key part of the decarbonisation programme is to replace the fleet of 
existing diesel refuse collection vehicles (RCVs) as the current stock 
accounts for 1,800 tonnes of CO2 per year. The total estimated carbon 
savings for the project is 1,104.39 tCO2, subject to the final Investment 
Grade Proposal (IGP). 
 

1.3 The local electricity network at Waterbeach Depot has insufficient 
capacity to meet the charging requirements of an electric fleet as the 
maximum grid capacity will be reached now the two electric RCVs 
(eRCV) are operational. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6

mailto:dave.prinsep@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:janet.fogg@cambridge.gov.uk


1.4 In order to continue the fleet decarbonisation programme to meet the 
Council’s 2030 net zero target, there is an urgent need for an on-site 
renewable energy solution to enable charging of eRCVs. The 
Waterbeach Renewable Energy Network (WREN) Solar Project is how 
this need will be met. 
 

1.5 This is a partnership between CCC, SCDC and Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) and the scheme helps each 
to achieve and contribute to their respective emissions and 
sustainability targets.  Each partner is currently seeking funding 
approval subject to the Investment Grade Proposal (IGP) for the 
scheme being completed. 

 
1.6 The IGP is being developed which further verifies the feasibility of the 

project and this will be approved by CCC, SCDC and the CPCA before 
the scheme progresses to full design and implementation. 

2. Recommendations 
 

The Executive Councillor is recommended to: 
 
2.1 Approve the council’s participation in the WREN Solar Project to 

develop an integrated renewable energy and storage solution including 
a ground-mounted solar photovoltaic array and battery storage on land 
adjacent to the Greater Cambridge Shared Waste Service Depot at 
Waterbeach depot.  
 

2.2 Support the inclusion of a capital proposal within the council’s General 
Fund Medium Term Financial Strategy for a contribution of £1.3m 
towards the capital delivery cost, funded by a £0.1m contribution from 
the council’s Climate Change Fund and £1.2m from General Fund 
reserves. 
 

2.3 Note that the contribution of £0.1m from the Council’s Climate Change 
Fund is match-funding to the contribution being made from the existing 
GCSWS budget towards the project. 
 

2.4 Delegate authority to the Strategic Director in consultation with the 
Head of Legal Practice and Head of Property Services to approve 
necessary contracts and leases to enable the implementation of the 
WREN project. 

 

Page 24



3. Background 
 

3.1 The Greater Cambridge Shared Waste Service (GCSWS) for CCC and 
SCDC has firm policy commitments to decarbonise the fleet of RCVs by 
2030.  
 

3.2 A key part of the decarbonisation programme to reduce CCC’s direct 
carbon emissions to net zero carbon emissions by 2030 is to replace 
the fleet of existing diesel RCVs.  The current stock is responsible for 
an estimated 1,800 tonnes of CO2 per year.  
 

3.3 The Shared Waste Service operates from Waterbeach Depot, 
Dickerson Industrial Estate, off the A10 in between the Cambridge 
Research Park and Waterbeach Waste Management Park. The local 
electricity network has insufficient capacity to meet the charging 
requirements of the GCSWS’ fleet – the maximum grid capacity will be 
reached now the two existing eRCVs are operational.   
 

3.4 Meeting the net zero target for CCC’s emissions by 2030 and the 
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Independent Commission on Climate 
recommendations requires radical change to how we deliver public 
sector services. The decarbonisation of fleet requires electrification and 
reinforcement of energy infrastructure. The WREN project enables 
SCDC and CCC to significantly reduce their Scope 1 emissions and 
showcase local grid deployment as well as energy cost/availability 
resilience. 
 

3.5 In June 2020 the CCC committed: “To procure Ultra Low Emission 
Vehicles (ULEV) when replacing vans and trucks in the Council’s fleet 
(where there is a suitable ULEV alternative, and the infrastructure 
allows. This could lead to a fully electric van and truck fleet by 2028; 
Will seek to replace all RCVs with low carbon alternatives (electric or 
hydrogen) at the point when they are due for replacement”. In order to 
continue the Council’s fleet decarbonisation programme to meet the 
2030 net zero target, there is an urgent need for an on-site renewable 
energy solution to enable charging of electric Refuse Collection 
Vehicles (eRCVs).   
 

3.6 The existing ‘business as usual’ is that the RCV fleet consumes circa 
695,000 litres of diesel fuel a year resulting in 1,800 tonnes of CO2 a 
year. The long-term goal of the project is full replacement of the fleet – 
this would thus result in total avoided emissions of up to 1,800 tonnes 
of CO2 a year. These avoided emissions, Scope 1 for both Councils, 

Page 25



would be a major milestone achievement for their climate action goals. 
From the circa 50 vehicles within the fleet, the project will focus on 
approximately 35 vehicles transitioning to eRCVs. The other vehicles 
are likely to require alternative fuel sources as their operations are not 
suitable for the current eRCVs available. 
 

3.7 Without the WREN Project, the programme will stall due to 
unavailability of electricity capacity from the local grid to charge the 
eRCVs. The detailed design will seek to ensure that the generation of 
renewable energy and the operational deployment reflects the fleet 
replacement programme as well as the energy demand. Not doing so 
would prevent the Council’s carbon emissions reducing by 
approximately 552.20 tonnes of CO2 per year (which is City’s 50% 
share of the total estimated carbon savings for the project of 1,104.39 
tCO2) as a result of replacing the current diesel vehicles with electric 
RCVs, subject to the final IGP. 
 

3.8 Table 1, below, details the Fleet Replacement Programme for the 
GCSWS. Please note, the profile over the programme period is subject 
to change, due to lead-in times for purchase of e-RCV vehicles, change 
in options available of e-RCVs, and availability of supply of 
electricity/charging infrastructure (which is the issue that the WREN 
project is aiming to address).  

 
 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Totals 

Existing Fleet 

Replacement 

(No. vehicles) 

1 0 4 6 14 13 3 5 46 

New vehicles 

– to 

accommodate 

growth (No. of 

vehicles) 

0 0 1 1 1 0 0 1 3 

e-RCVs 1 0 2 2 11 13 3 3 35 

Total vehicles 

replaced pa 

1 0 4 7 15 13 3 6 49 

Table 1: GCSWS Fleet Replacement Programme, correct July 2022 
 
3.9 By providing the on-site renewable energy solution to charge the 

vehicles, it enables the GCSWS to charge more than 2 eRCVs and so 
replace more of the 54 current diesel RCVs with electric versions until 
they are all replaced. The design of WREN will be such that it uses 

Page 26



minimal electricity imported from the grid, it will maximise the electricity 
generated by the solar PV array and will require minimal export of 
electricity to the grid (which is constrained). These design principles 
maximise the use of renewable energy and decrease carbon emissions 
from the operation and charging of the eRCVs.   
 

3.10 SCDC is leading the client-side project management and is utilising the 
Cambridgeshire Local Authorities Energy Performance Services 
Contract, a Framework Agreement with Bouygues E&S Solutions 
Limited.  
 

3.11 An Investment Grade Proposal (IGP) is being developed which verifies 
the feasibility of the project, refines the options for a renewable energy 
grid; qualifies and assesses major project risks; and develops a clear 
scope and approach for the development of the project utilising an 
Energy Performance Contract model.  It is requirement that the IGP is 
approved by the CCC, SCDC and the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) before the scheme 
progresses to full design and implementation. 
 

3.12 The initial business case indicates that the renewable energy network 
to service approximately 35 eRCVs will deliver a positive net present 
value over the 30-year lifespan of the project compared with the 
financial outcomes and carbon emissions of the counterfactual option of 
grid connection and reinforcement only (i.e. importing electricity for 
charging from the Grid if and when available due to reinforcement 
needed, excludes the costs of the battery, solar PV array and local grid/ 
power management system). This takes into consideration initial capital 
expenditure as well as the cost of energy. The renewable energy 
network would comprise of the following infrastructure:  

 a ground-mounted solar photovoltaic (PV) array (1MWp) on adjacent 
land to the depot, 

 an Energy Storage System (ESS) “battery” to maximise the use of 
renewable energy from the solar PV array, 

 a Power Management system to control the energy resources and 
optimise performance, 

 electric vehicle charging infrastructure, 

 and a point of connection to the electricity distribution network 
 

3.13 The next steps for the project team are to complete the IGP which 
includes full business case and design; finalise the land lease with the 
landowner; discharge pre-commencement planning conditions and 
secure the grid connection. Following the completion of these tasks, 

Page 27



officers will review the IGP to check it meets the key performance 
parameters and investment criteria and will then make 
recommendations to SCDC’s Cabinet in December 2022. A Director 
with delegated authority at CCC will approve the final scheme and any 
associated contracts after completion of the IGP and SCDC (as lead 
authority for GCSWS and this project) approval. Subject to approval, 
the build out would be programmed to start in early 2023. 

 
3.14 The project team is working with the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 

Combined Authority (CPCA) to secure funding of £2.7m towards the 
project which has an estimated value of £5.3m. The Council’s share of 
the remaining cost is £1.3m.  Provision is being made for the inclusion 
of a capital proposal within the council’s General Fund Medium Term 
Financial Strategy for the Council’s contribution of £1.3m towards the 
capital delivery cost. 
 

3.15 It is proposed that a contribution of £0.1m from the Council’s Climate 
Change Fund is made towards the project costs, as match-funding to 
the contribution being made from the existing GCSWS budget towards 
the project, which will mean the remaining contribution from General 
Fund reserves is £1.2m. 
 

3.16 The Climate Change Fund has already contributed to the initial costs 
£37,004 of the project to fund the initial feasibility study and preliminary 
works related to the land lease and grid connections. 
 

4. Implications 

a) Financial Implications 
 
The capital cost of the project is £5.3m with a £2.7m bid in with the CPCA 
and the remaining £2.6m to be split between the respective GCSWS 
partners. CCS’s contribution will be £1.2m from the capital programme and 
£100k from the Climate Change Fund. A capital proposal is being made 
within the council’s General Fund Medium Term Financial Strategy for a 
contribution of £1.3m towards the capital delivery cost, funded by a £0.1m 
contribution from the council’s Climate Change Fund and £1.2m from General 
Fund reserves. 
 
Final commitment to detailed design and implementation will be after the IGP 
is approved by CCC, SCDC and CPCA.  This funding and approval request is 
being brought forward now for the whole scheme given the opportunity for co-
funding, partnership working and support from the CPCA.  

Page 28



b) Staffing Implications 
 
The project is being managed as follows, with no additional cost implications: 

 Alex Snelling-Day, Green Investment Manager of SCDC is leading the 
client-side project management  

 Bouygues E&S Solutions Limited are providing services under 
Cambridgeshire Local Authorities Energy Performance Services 
Contract Framework Agreement  

 Dave Prinsep, Head of Property Services is Project Sponsor with 
support from Janet Fogg, Climate Change Officer 

 3C ICT will do required legal work or will be outsourced as part of 
project costs 

c) Equality and Poverty Implications 
An Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) of the WREN project has been 
carried out by South Cambridgeshire District Council as the host authority for 
the Greater Cambridge Shared Waste Service. The EqIA did not identify any 
negative equality impacts from the WREN project. The EqIA is published on 
the City Council’s website: www.cambridge.gov.uk/equality-impact-
assessments 

d) Net Zero Carbon, Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
High positive rating – the project will enable the fleet of existing fossil-fuel 
powered diesel RCVs to be replaced with eRCVs by providing an on-site 
renewable energy solution to enable them to be charged. 

e) Procurement Implications 
The project is utilising the Cambridgeshire Local Authorities Energy 
Performance Services Contract, a Framework Agreement with Bouygues 
E&S Solutions Limited.  

f) Community Safety Implications 
None. 

5. Consultation and communication considerations 
 
Residents will be kept informed about progress of the scheme through news 
releases and articles in Cambridge Matters. 

6. Background papers 
Background papers used in the preparation of this report: 

 
Business Case: Waterbeach Renewable Energy Network (WREN) Solar 
Project 

Page 29

http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/equality-impact-assessments
http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/equality-impact-assessments


7. Appendices 
None. 
 

8. Inspection of papers 
To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please 
contact Janet Fogg, Climate Change Officer, tel: 01223 - 457176, email: 
janet.fogg@cambridge.gov.uk. 

Page 30



 Report page no. 1       Agenda page no. 
 

Item 
ANNUAL CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY AND CARBON MANAGEMENT 
PLAN UPDATE REPORT 

 
Not a Key Decision 
 
1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report provides an update on progress on the 2021/22 actions of 

the Council’s Climate Change Strategy 2021-26. As part of this, the 
report includes an update on progress in: 
 

• Implementing the projects to reduce our direct carbon emissions from 
our corporate buildings, fleet vehicles and business travel as detailed 
in the Council’s Carbon Management Plan 2021-26. 

• Progress on EV charging (see paragraphs 7.6-7.13), recycling and 
food waste collections (see 8.1-8.10), and insulation and other 
housing retrofit measures (see 6.1-6.9), as agreed by the Executive 
Councillor for Climate Change, Environment and City Centre at the 
Council meeting on 24 February 2022. 

 
1.2 The report also provides an update on:   

To:  
Councillor Rosy Moore, Executive Councillor for Climate Change, 
Environment and City Centre 
Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee     06/10/2022 
 
Report by:  
Janet Fogg, Climate Change Officer, Catherine Stewart, Climate Change 
Officer and David Kidston, Strategy and Partnerships Manager 
Tel: 01223 457143, Email: david.kidston@cambridge.gov.uk 
Wards affected:  
Abbey, Arbury, Castle, Cherry Hinton, Coleridge, East Chesterton, King's 
Hedges, Market, Newnham, Petersfield, Queen Edith's, Romsey, 
Trumpington, West Chesterton 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



 Report page no. 2       Agenda page no. 
 

 

• The council’s Greenhouse Gas Emissions for 2021/22.  
                                                                                                                                                                                                                           

2. Recommendations 
 
The Executive Councillor is recommended to: 
 
1. Note the progress achieved in 2021/22 in implementing the 

actions in the Climate Change Strategy and Carbon Management 
Plan. 

2. Approve the updated Climate Change Strategy action plan 
presented in Appendix A. 

3. Approve the updated Environmental Policy Statement presented 
in Appendix C 

 

3. Background 
 

Climate Change Strategy 
 
3.1 The Council’s Climate Change Strategy 2021-26 shares a vision for 

Cambridge to be net zero carbon by 2030, subject to Government, 
industry and regulators implementing the necessary changes to enable 
the city and the rest of the UK to achieve this. This vision recognises 
that, while the Council can take the actions identified in the strategy’s 
Action Plan and use its policies and regulatory powers to influence 
emissions in some sectors, the actions and choices of national 
government, businesses, organisations and individuals have a very 
significant impact on emissions in the city.   

 
3.2 The Council’s strategy sets out six key objectives for how we will 

address the causes and consequences of climate change: 
 

1. Reducing carbon emissions from city council buildings, land, vehicles 
and services 

2. Reducing energy consumption and carbon emissions from homes 
and buildings in Cambridge 

3. Reducing carbon emissions from transport in Cambridge 
4. Reducing consumption of resources, reducing waste, and increasing 

Page 32



 Report page no. 3       Agenda page no. 
 

 

recycling in Cambridge 
5. Promoting sustainable food 
6. Supporting Council services, residents and businesses to adapt to 

the impacts of climate change 
 

3.3 The Council is taking a wide range of direct actions, set out in the 
Climate Change Strategy Action Plan, which will contribute to reducing 
emissions in Cambridge to help deliver the vision for Cambridge to be 
net zero carbon by 2030. This report provides details of progress on 
some of the key actions during the first six months of the new strategy 
(see sections 4 to 9 below). 

 
3.4 A revised and updated Action Plan is presented for approval at 

Appendix A.  
 

Climate Change Strategy benchmarking 
 

3.5 Since 2016 the council has reported the council’s activities to reduce the 
council’s and the city’s emissions and adapt to climate change to the 
Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP). CDP run the global disclosure system 
that enables companies, cities, states and regions to measure and 
manage their environmental impacts.  

 
3.6 The Council’s 2021 response was awarded a score of B within the 

‘Management’ scoring band. The Mitigation score of B (equal to the 
Europe regional average) indicates that “a Management level city has a 
clear understanding of their city-wide emissions through their inventory, 
their action plan is in implementation and the city has emission 
reduction targets and actions in place to mitigate the effects of climate 
change”. The adaptation score of B (higher than the Europe regional 
average of C) indicates that “a Management level city has assessed the 
impacts of climate change; an adaptation plan is in implementation and 
the city is taking action to adapt to the effects of climate change”.  
 

3.7 In January 2021 Climate Emergency UK published independent 
rankings1 of all 400 plus local authority climate change strategies and 

 
1 https://councilclimatescorecards.uk/  

Page 33

https://www.cdp.net/en
https://councilclimatescorecards.uk/


 Report page no. 4       Agenda page no. 
 

 

action plans. The Council was ranked 17th out of 181 district Councils 
with a score of 64%2. The average district score was 43% and the 
Council scored above average in all of the 9 areas of the scorecard. 
Our score was higher than a number of similar district council such as 
Exeter (23rd with 61%), Oxford (60th with 48%) and Norwich (101st 
with 33%). 

 
Carbon emissions in Cambridge 
 

3.8 As shown in Chart 1 below, the latest available national greenhouse 
gas emissions estimates, published by the Department for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS), show that total emissions in 
Cambridge have reduced by 45% over the last 15 years, from 813.1 
ktCO2e in 2005 to 444.6 ktCO2e in 2020. 

 
Chart 1: Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions in Cambridge 2005-2020 
(ktCO2e) 

 
 
3.9 While the Council, residents and partners in the city have taken a range 

of actions over this period, the reduction in emissions from Cambridge 
(and other cities) in more recent years has been driven primarily by 
reduced use of coal in electricity generation and the increased use of 
renewable energy generation at a national level. 

 

 
2 https://councilclimatescorecards.uk/scoring/district/  

813.1 826.6 806.4 817.3

744.0
781.6

724.3
780.9 754.8

653.0
625.8

581.8
553.6 538.4

500.7
444.6

0.0

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

700.0

800.0

900.0

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Page 34

https://councilclimatescorecards.uk/scoring/district/


 Report page no. 5       Agenda page no. 
 

 

3.10 The Council’s Climate Change Strategy focusses on reducing carbon 
emissions from the key sources of emissions in the city and where the 
Council has most influence. As shown by Chart 2, below, the greatest 
source of greenhouse emissions in Cambridge in 2020 was from 
energy consumption in domestic properties (heating and powering 
homes) at 31% (the UK average was 25%), which is almost a third of 
the city’s emissions, emphasising the importance in reducing emissions 
through retrofit and changing residents’ behaviour in this sector.  

 
Chart 2: Sources of Greenhouse Gas Emissions in Cambridge in 
2020 (ktCO2e) 

 
 
3.11 The public sector contributes the second highest proportion of 

emissions in Cambridge at 19%, which is much higher than the UK 
average of 3% for local authority (LA) areas. The reflects the number 
and size of councils, health and education bodies in the city.  
 

3.12 Transport was responsible for the third highest proportion of emissions 
in Cambridge at 18%, which is lower than the UK average of 28%. This 
suggests that actions to reduce emissions from transport are also 
important in reducing carbon emissions in the city.  
 

3.13 The fourth highest sector is commercial shops and businesses at 15%, 
a much higher proportion than the UK average of 6% from this 
emissions source. In contrast, emissions from industry were the second 

Domestic, 
158.7, 
31%

Public Sector, 
98.4, 
19%

Transport, 
91.5, 
18%

Commercial, 
80.1, 
15%

Waste 
Management, 

49.6, 
10%

Industry , 29.9, 
6% Agriculture, 

5.4, 1%

Page 35



 Report page no. 6       Agenda page no. 
 

 

lowest proportion of emissions in Cambridge at 6%, compared to a UK 
average of 19%. 

 
3.14 Cambridge City Council was only directly responsible for 1% of total 

carbon emissions in the city in 2020, so there is a need for significant 
action by residents, businesses and other public organisations in the 
city, to reduce their emissions if Cambridge is to become net zero 
carbon. 

 
3.15 Waste management (10% of Cambridge’s emissions) and agriculture 

(1%) have been included in BEIS’ local authority area emissions 
estimates3 for the first time in 2020, and so the emissions now also 
cover territorial emissions of methane (CH4) and nitrous oxide (N2O) 

as well as carbon dioxide (CO2). Prior to 2020, the statistics only 
covered carbon emissions (CO2) and so the statistics are now 
estimates of greenhouse gas emissions.   
 

3.16 As shown by Chart 3 on the next page, emissions associated with all 
sectors have reduced between 2005 and 2015, although some sectors 
have seen a greater reduction than others. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-local-authority-and-regional-greenhouse-gas-emissions-
national-statistics   

Page 36

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-local-authority-and-regional-greenhouse-gas-emissions-national-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-local-authority-and-regional-greenhouse-gas-emissions-national-statistics


 Report page no. 7       Agenda page no. 
 

 

Chart 3: Sources of Greenhouse Gas Emissions 2005-2020 
(ktCO2e)

4  
 

3.17 As Chart 4 on the next page shows, per capita emissions estimates 
(emissions per unit of population) in Cambridge compared to other local 
authorities in Cambridgeshire and also cities in England with 
comparable populations (ranging from 99,000 to 195,000) and functions.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 LULUCF: land use, land use change and forestry activities. The LULUCF Sector differs from other sectors 
in the Greenhouse Gas Inventory in that it contains both sources and sinks of greenhouse gases. The 
sources, or emissions to the atmosphere, are given as positive values; the sinks, or removals from the 
atmosphere, are given as negative values, source: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1087003/l
ulucf-local-authority-mapping-report-2020.pdf.  

2005, 0.0

2020, -0.3

2005, 56.0 2020, 29.9

2005, 179.2
2020, 80.1

2005, 144.3

2020, 91.5

2005, 201.5

2020, 98.4

2005, 253.6

2020, 158.7

2020, 49.6

2020, 5.4

-100.0

0.0

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

700.0

800.0

900.0

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

kt
CO

2e

Agriculture Total

Waste Management
Total
Domestic Total

Public Sector Total

Transport Total

Commercial Total

Industry Total

(Agriculture and Waste 
data by Local Authority 
area only exists for 2018 
onwards)

Page 37

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1087003/lulucf-local-authority-mapping-report-2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1087003/lulucf-local-authority-mapping-report-2020.pdf


 Report page no. 8       Agenda page no. 
 

 

Chart 4: 2020 Per Capita Emissions Estimates (tCO2e)  

 
 

3.18 The Council is making use of available data tools to identify the 
transition needed for Cambridge to reach net zero carbon emissions. 
From October 2020-December 2021 we had a trial subscription to the 
ClimateView system, which aims to help identify and visualise the 
interventions (e.g. retrofit of homes and commercial buildings) that 
would be needed in different thematic areas (e.g. energy, transport and 
waste) in order for cities to reach net zero carbon. ClimateView was 
helpful in informing the development of actions for inclusion in the 
Council’s Climate Change Strategy.  
 

3.19 However, we have decided not to continue with the Council’s 
subscription to ClimateView, because much of the data that the system 
requires (e.g. total number of miles travelled by petrol cars, diesel cars 
and electric cars per annum) is not currently available for Cambridge. In 
the absence of local data, the system uses average per capita figures 
based on national data, which is much less accurate and is difficult to 
reconcile with the local authority emissions data published by BEIS and 
presented above. We have explored several alternative data tools, 
including Scatter, Net Zero Go, Net Zero Navigator and the MacKay 
Carbon Calculator, and will determine which of these tools to best 
meets our needs. 

 

13.9 13.4

10.2

8.2

6.4
5 4.6

4 3.6 3.6 3.5 3.2 2.9 2.9 2.8 2.7

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

20
20

 P
er

 C
ap

ita
 E

m
iss

io
ns

 (t
CO

2e
)

Page 38



 Report page no. 9       Agenda page no. 
 

 

Carbon Management Plan 2021-26 
 

3.20 The Council has set a target in the Climate Change Strategy to reduce 
direct carbon emissions from our corporate buildings (including 
swimming pools, office buildings, car parks, sheltered housing schemes, 
community centres, arts venues and the crematorium), fleet vehicles 
(including vans, trucks and refuse vehicles), and business travel, to net 
zero by 2030. 

 
3.21 The Council has produced a Carbon Management Plan for 2021-26, 

which sets out projects that will help reduced carbon emissions from our 
corporate buildings, fleet vehicles and business travel. Details of the 
carbon reduction projects to be delivered during 2021/22 are provided in 
section 4 below, and a table providing further information on these 
projects is included in the Carbon Management Plan at Appendix B.  
 
Cambridge City Council’s carbon emissions 
 

3.22 The Council calculates its carbon emissions from its estate and 
operations, and reports these to Government in our annual Greenhouse 
Gas report. The report for 2021/22 is available on the Council’s website 
here: www.cambridge.gov.uk/carbon-management-plan. 

 
Chart 5. Council’s Total Carbon Emissions (tCO2e) 

 

8,041
7,584

7,234

6,564
6,011

5,721

4,478

5,248

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Page 39

http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/carbon-management-plan


 Report page no. 10       Agenda page no. 
 

 

 
3.23 As shown by Chart 5 on the previous page, from 2014/15 to 2021/22 

the Council’s carbon emissions have reduced by 34.7%. This reduction 
was partly due to steps that the Council has taken, including 
rationalising its office accommodation, investing in energy efficiency 
and renewable energy measures in its buildings, and reducing carbon 
emissions from its fleet vehicles. A significant proportion of this 
reduction was also due to the decarbonisation of electricity generation 
at a national level, through the progressive closure of coal-fired power 
stations and increasing renewable electricity generation. 
 

3.24 However, as shown by the chart above, the Council’s greenhouse gas 
emissions were 17.2% higher in 2021/22 than in 2020/21. Total gross 
emissions increased from 4,478 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 
(tCO2e) in 2020/21 to 5,248 tCO2e in 2021/22. The 2021/22 emissions 
are, however, 8.3% lower than the pre-Covid year of 2019/20 when the 
emissions total was 5,721 tCO2e.  
 

3.25 It was anticipated that the Council’s emissions may increase in 2021/22 
compared to 2020/21’s emissions total. 2020/21 was an exceptional 
year, with some Council buildings closed or used on a more limited 
basis due to restrictions imposed by the government in response to the 
coronavirus pandemic. As restrictions were lifted during 2021/22, it was 
anticipated that the use of Council buildings and associated 
consumption of gas and electricity would increase.  
 

3.26 The main contribution to the increase in the Council’s emissions in 
2021/22 compared to the previous year was the increased consumption 
of electricity and gas at the Council’s swimming pools and leisure sites. 
These were closed or had reduced opening hours or capacity for 
certain periods during 2020/21 and were re-opened in 2021/22. The 
Corn Exchange also re-opened for performances from August 2021 
having been closed during the pandemic. 
 

3.27 Electricity and gas consumption significantly increased at Jesus Green 
Outdoor Pool, which was open for 12 months during 2021/22 (instead 
of the usual 5 months) and stayed open later in the evening for the 
health and wellbeing benefit of users during the coronavirus pandemic. 

Page 40



 Report page no. 11       Agenda page no. 
 

 

The increased opening of the pool required more electricity to provide 
lighting, heating for the showers and power for the pool pump filter 
system. Some sites, such as Cherry Hinton Village Centre were used 
as Covid vaccination centres and so energy use increased at these 
sites.  

 
3.28 In contrast, the consumption of electricity and gas in the Council’s non-

leisure buildings in 2021/22 was lower than in both 2019/20 and 
2020/21 due to lower occupancies. The Council’s car parks also used 
significantly lower amounts of electricity in 2021/22 than in the previous 
two years.  
 

3.29 Carbon emissions from the Council’s vehicle fleet has increased since 
2020/21 as the Council continues to provide essential services. 
However, there is still a marked reduction in business mileage for staff 
and Councillors as a result of a significant number of meetings 
continuing to be held online, where previously travel was required. 
 

3.30 As shown by Chart 6 on the next page, in 2021/22 the greatest 
proportion of emissions came from the Council’s leisure centres and 
pools (27%) followed by fleet vehicles (25%), sheltered housing 
communal areas (13%), administration buildings (7%), car parks (7%), 
the Crematorium (5%) and community centres (4%).  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



 Report page no. 12       Agenda page no. 
 

 

Chart 6: Council’s Carbon Emissions by Source (tCO2e) in 2021/22

 
 
3.31 The main sources of the council’s emissions are the sites that use a 

significant amount of gas, including the leisure sites, sheltered housing 
communal areas, administration buildings and the Corn Exchange and 
Crematorium. The Council’s leisure sites consumed the most gas in 
2021/22 (6,782,489 kWh) and the second highest amount of electricity 
(736,934 kWh compared to the car parks which consumed 1,492,689 
kWh) as shown in Chart 7 on the next page.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

27%

25%
13%

7%

7%

5%

4%

3%
2% 2%

1%
1%

1% 1%

1%
Leisure Centres & Pools

Fleet (including refuse vehicles)

Sheltered Housing Communal Areas

Administration Buildings

Car Parks

Crematorium (and other
Bereavement sites)
Community Centres

Landlord/ Communal Lighting in
Housing
Commercial Property Landlord
Heating and Lighting
Temporary Housing

Corn Exchange

Toilets, Pavilions and Garages

Depots

Business Travel

Streetlighting

Page 42



 Report page no. 13       Agenda page no. 
 

 

Chart 7: Electricity and Gas Consumption by Source (kWh) 
2021/22   

 
 

4. Communications, engagement and collaboration  
 
4.1 Raising awareness of climate change and encouraging action to help 

the city to reach net zero carbon emissions is a key priority for the 
Council. During 2021/22, we have taken forward a range of 
communications and engagement actions with staff and residents, and 
we have continued collaborative activities with local businesses, 
institutions and organisations. 

 
Staff training and awareness 
 

4.2 In 2021/22 a 30-minute online CPD Certified Environmental Awareness 
course was added to the staff induction programme and all existing staff 
were asked to complete it.  

 

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000

8,000,000

Electricity Consumption  (kWh)

Gas Consumption (kWh)

Page 43



 Report page no. 14       Agenda page no. 
 

 

4.3 A 1.5 hour ‘Climate Change – Net Zero training’ session was developed 
and delivered by the Council’s Climate Change Officers to groups of 
senior managers and councillors. Thirteen training sessions were held 
from January-September 2022 and 25 councillors and 94 managers 
have been trained to date.  

 
4.4 The training includes key information about climate change, 

Cambridge’s emissions and the impacts of climate change, the 
Council’s commitments, the action we are taking and how attendees 
can contribute to the vision for the city to be net zero carbon by 2030 
and the target to reduce its direct carbon emissions to net zero carbon 
by 2030.  

 
4.5 Feedback following the sessions has shown that the sessions have 

boosted attendees’ confidence in the subject. Prior to attending, 73% of 
attendees (who responded to the feedback survey) scored themselves 
as 1,2 or 3 out of 5 in terms of confidence in this topic (indicating lower 
levels of confidence). After the session, 97% of respondents scored 
their confidence as either 3,4, or 5 and 94% agreed or strongly agreed 
that the course met its learning objectives. 

 
4.6 Attendees were asked to pledge to undertake an action at work and at 

home that would reduce emissions. Work related pledges included: 
reducing work-related journeys where possible; reducing energy 
consumption in council buildings; and working to provide space for 
residents to grow food. Personal pledges made by attendees included: 
reducing waste from cooking; cycling more; and trying not to buy new 
clothes for a year. 

 
 Communications and awareness-raising for residents 
 
4.7 During 2021/22 the Council used a variety of communications channels 

to engage different residents, including: radio interviews; regular articles 
in every edition of Cambridge Matters; news releases; awards 
submissions; creating videos; posts on social media; and updates on 
the Council website. Council communications focused on a range of 
issues, including raising awareness of Council action to address climate 

Page 44



 Report page no. 15       Agenda page no. 
 

 

change and reduce carbon emissions, highlighting the co-benefits of 
addressing climate change, and helping and encouraging residents to 
make well-informed low carbon choices about their behaviours such as 
use of energy, recycling, and food by providing practical tips 

 
4.8 The Council used national awareness days and events to help amplify 

our messaging, including World Food Day (November 2021), National 
Tree Week (December 2021), Big Energy Saving Week (January 2022), 
Earth Hour (March 2022), Food Waste Action Week (March 2022), 
National Vegetarian Week (May 2022) and Clean Air Day (June 2022). 
We also ran two longer campaigns:  

  
• a social-media campaign during COP26 (in October 2021) called 

#OurGreenDay, which showcased the variety of work happening 
across different Council services to address climate change and 
encouraged residents to make behavioural changes.  

• a communications campaign during national Net Zero Week in July 
2022, to raise awareness of work the Council is doing to reach net 
zero and give practical tips to residents on how they can contribute to 
the vision of a net zero Cambridge. Other national awareness days 
that have been used to amplify Council communications  

 
4.9 To continue to raise awareness and support residents to take action on 

climate change, a climate change training course for residents will be 
launched during 2022/23. The training, funded and co-designed by the 
Council, will be delivered by Cambridge Carbon Footprint and will aim 
to motivate, empower and enable residents to take practical, impactful 
climate action.  
 
Cambridge Climate Change Charter 
 

4.10 The Council funded Cambridge Carbon Footprint to develop the 
Cambridge Climate Change Charter, to support residents to make well-
informed low carbon choices and commitments and encourage 
businesses to take steps to reduce their carbon emissions.   
 

4.11 In June 2021, the contract with Cambridge Carbon Footprint (CCF) was 

Page 45



 Report page no. 16       Agenda page no. 
 

 

extended until June 2022 to promote the Charter through further 
activities and events. These included: a “Shrink your Carbon Footprint” 
stalls at events; a session at the Cambridge Zero Climate Change 
Festival; a Community toolkit and a launch event and workshops to 
promote it; two events for SMEs; and the development and promotion 
of the Cambridge Climate Map, which highlights low carbon shops, 
businesses and services in the city. Since June 2021, 7 more 
businesses and 37 more individuals have signed the Charter, equaling 
24 business signatories and 171 individual signatories in total.  

 
City Leaders Climate Change Group  

 
4.12 Since 2017, the Council has convened the City Leaders Climate 

Change, which brings together key partners, including businesses, 
universities, and public sector organisations to explore how carbon 
emissions in the city can be reduced. During 2021/22 the Council 
convened 3 meetings of the group  
 

• In July 2021, Cambridge Zero presented their plans to engage with 
businesses and support them to reduce emissions. 

• In December 2021, following COP26, the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Independent Commission on Climate presented 
recommendations for businesses from their recent report and 
Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership (CISL) presented 
on leadership and collaboration for climate change. Over 50 
representatives from major businesses, institutions and organisations 
in the city, including senior leaders (CEO’s and Directors), attended 
the meeting. Attendees explored opportunities to work together and 
there was a high-level of enthusiasm for action-oriented 
collaboration. 

• In March 2022, we invited a sub-group of members who responded 
positively to a follow-up survey sent after the December 2021 event 
to a further meeting. The group discussed potential collaborative 
actions that the group could deliver, with a particular focus on 
reducing carbon emission from transport in the city. 

 
4.13 The Council plans to jointly host the next City Leaders Climate Change 

Page 46



 Report page no. 17       Agenda page no. 
 

 

Group meeting with CISL at their newly retrofitted building, Entopia, to 
continue to explore collaboration, with a focus on reducing carbon 
emissions from energy, another key area of interest for members of the 
group.  
 

Local Climate Change Forum 
 
4.14 Since July 2021, the Council has convened 5 meetings of the Climate 

Change Forum, which brings together the Council and local voluntary 
and community groups (including Cambridge Carbon Footprint, 
Cambridge Sustainable Food, Carbon Neutral Cambridge, Friends of 
the Earth and Transition Cambridge) to explore opportunities for 
collaborative activities to help address climate change. For example, in 
October 2021, the Council, CCF, CSF and Transition Cambridge hosted 
a joint online engagement event as part of the Cambridge Zero Festival, 
which provided advice to residents on the practical steps they can take 
to reduce their emissions and help Cambridge to achieve net zero 
carbon emissions. 85 people registered for the event and 37 people 
attended. 

 
4.15 The Council is currently planning another joint engagement event for 

October 2022, as part of the Cambridge Zero Climate Change Festival, 
with members of the Climate Change Forum. The event will take place 
at the Guildhall and consist of a series of mini talks on community 
projects in Cambridge which tackle climate change. 

 
 
5.  Progress in delivering the key actions under Objective 1 
 

Emissions from the Council’s estate and fleet vehicles 
 

5.1  Action 1.1: Reducing emissions from the Council’s building estate 
Objective 1 of the Climate Change Strategy, ‘Reducing carbon 
emissions from the City Council’s buildings, land, vehicles and 
services’, is being delivered primarily through carbon and energy 
reduction projects as part of the Council’s Carbon Management Plan 
2021-26 an update for which is at Appendix B. During 2021/22, the 
following projects were progressed on the Council’s estate: 

Page 47



 Report page no. 18       Agenda page no. 
 

 

 
• Parkside and Abbey Pools: Following successful applications for a 

total of £1.7m from the Government’s Public Sector Decarbonisation 
Scheme (PSDS), the Council worked with Bouygues Energies & 
Services via the REFIT 3 Energy Performance Contract5 to install a 
number of carbon emission reduction measures at Parkside and 
Abbey swimming pools.  

o Parkside Pool: Two air source heat pumps6 (ASHP), additional 
solar PV, an LED lighting upgrade, BEMS7 and pipework 
insulation were installed. The ASHPs will work with the existing 
CHP8 unit to provide heat to the air plant and domestic hot water 
services at the pool. Improved controls will further reduce energy 
consumption. These measures will reduce the energy 
consumption of Parkside Pool by approximately 37.5%. They will 
reduce carbon emissions at the pool by approximately 368.3 
tonnes of CO2, which will reduce the Council’s total carbon 
emissions by approximately 6.4%. 

o Abbey Pool: An air source heat pump (ASHP), BEMS, an LED 
lighting upgrade, and pipework insulation were installed. These 
will reduce the centre’s energy consumption by approximately 
47.5%, reduce carbon emissions by approximately 184 tonnes of 
CO2 and reduce the Council’s total carbon emissions by 
approximately 3.2%. 
 

• City Centre Heat Network Feasibility study: The Council is exploring 
the potential to develop a city centre heat network, which could 
potentially generate renewable energy to supply city centre buildings 
owned by the Council and the University of Cambridge. This could 
include buildings such as the Corn Exchange and Guildhall, which 

 
5 https://localpartnerships.org.uk/our-expertise/re-fit/  
6 Heat pumps are a form of electric heating where energy is extracted from the air (ASHP) or the ground 
(GSHP) in order to provide space or water heating at a high efficiency. Installing a heat pump significantly 
reduces the requirement for gas for heating (which generates high levels of carbon emissions) as they use 
7 Building Energy Management Systems (BEMS) are integrated, computerised systems for monitoring and 
controlling energy-related building services plant and equipment such as heating, ventilation and air 
conditioning (HVAC) systems. 
8 Combined heat and power (CHP) is a highly efficient process that captures and utilises the heat that is a 
by-product of the electricity generation process. By generating heat and power simultaneously, CHP can 
reduce carbon emissions by up to 30% compared to the separate means of conventional generation via a 
boiler and power station. 

Page 48

https://localpartnerships.org.uk/our-expertise/re-fit/


 Report page no. 19       Agenda page no. 
 

 

are amongst the hardest Council assets to decarbonise. The Council 
has been awarded £96,000 of funding from the Heat Network 
Delivery Unit (HNDU) for a feasibility study, which will explore the 
technical and economic feasibility of the scheme. The study will be 
completed by May 2023. 
 

• Asset Management Plan – As agreed at Environment and 
Community Scrutiny Committee in March 2021, work has been taken 
forward work to develop an Asset Management Plan for the buildings 
included in the Greenhouse Gas Report which have the highest 
carbon emissions. The first stage of this work has been completed, 
with surveys completed of all the buildings to provide a high-level 
assessment of the maintenance and carbon reduction needs and 
costs. An update on this work was provided to Environment and 
Community Scrutiny Committee in March 2022. Once decisions have 
been made as part of the Council’s Office Accommodation Strategy 
regarding which buildings should be retained, a full Asset 
Management Plan will be developed and detailed plans will be 
prepared for those buildings that are being retained.  
 

5.2 Action 1.5 - Waste fleet replacement: The Greater Cambridge Shared 
Waste Service is progressively replacing Refuse Collection Vehicles 
with electric vehicles or low carbon alternatives at the point when they 
are due for replacement. The first electric RCV has been in operation 
since 2020 and the Shared Waste Service received the second electric 
RCV in June 2022, with a third due for delivery in September 2022.  
 

5.3 Waterbeach Renewable Energy Network (WREN) solar project: The 
WREN project aims to provide a dedicated renewable energy source to 
support the transition of the Greater Cambridge Shared Waste 
Service’s fleet of RCVs to electric vehicles. The project will develop a 
ground-mounted solar photovoltaic (PV) array, an energy storage 
solution and electric vehicle charging infrastructure on land adjacent to 
the Greater Cambridge Shared Waste Service Depot at Waterbeach 
depot. This will allow 35 diesel Refuse Collection Vehicles (eRCVs) to 
be replaced with electric vehicles, reducing the City Council’s carbon 
emissions by approximately 552 tCO2 per annum. The total cost of the 
project will be £5.3m and the project team is working with the 

Page 49



 Report page no. 20       Agenda page no. 
 

 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) to 
secure funding of £2.7m towards the project. It is proposed that the 
Council would contribute £1.3m to the project, with South 
Cambridgeshire District Council providing similar funding. 

 
Improvements to Commercial Properties:  
  

5.4 Action 1.6 - Identify and assess the required improvements possible to 
remaining existing commercial properties (that will not be redeveloped 
as part of the commercial property redevelopment programme) to 
achieve net zero carbon, and obtain costs estimates for the 
improvement works:  Since the beginning of 2019, 138 EPC (energy 
performance certificate) assessments have been carried out on 
Council-owned commercial properties. Almost all of the Council’s 
commercial properties that require EPCs now have them. This 
information has been combined with existing EPC data, in order to 
identify improvements required. The information is also being used to 
inform an asset review, which will identify properties that are a priority 
for investment, as well as those to be redeveloped or disposed of.  

 
5.5 Property Services and Estates and Facilities are currently developing 

plans to manage, procure and implement a programme of 
improvements. The aim is to have a costed programme for the majority 
of retained properties by the end of the 2023/4 financial year, in time for 
budget setting for the 2024/5 financial year. For capacity reasons, 
works will need to be carried out in a phased manner, meaning the cost 
will be spread over several years.  

 

6.  Progress in delivering the key actions under Objective 2: 
 
Retrofitting energy efficiency and low carbon energy measures in 
existing homes 
 

6.1 The Council has assisted residents to reduce their carbon emissions 
through a range of measures in 2021 to improve the energy efficiency 
and increase low carbon and renewable energy generation in existing 
homes in Cambridge. 

Page 50



 Report page no. 21       Agenda page no. 
 

 

6.2 Action 2.1 - Investing £2.5 million in energy efficiency improvements to 
Council homes with poor energy efficiency ratings: The Council is 
investing £2.5 million in energy efficiency improvements to Council 
homes with poor energy efficiency ratings (predominantly Energy 
Performance Certificate D to G rated stock) from 2020/21 to 2022/23, 
with the aim of reaching a minimum EPC C (B where possible). To 
date, 168 Council homes have been retrofitted by installing external 
wall insulation and solar PV, with an additional 92 planned for 2022/23. 
Officers are intending to apply to the Government’s Social Housing 
Decarbonisation Fund for a funding contribution to help support the 
Council’s retrofit programme for 2023/24. 

 
Net zero carbon homes pilot  

6.3 In 2020, the Council procured an expert consultancy to carry out a high-
level study to establish how existing Council homes could be retrofitted 
to meet different carbon emissions standards, including net zero carbon 
emissions.  The report focussed on 7 different property archetypes 
within the Council’s housing stock and identified how they could be 
improved to reach these standards. The report has estimated that 
reaching net zero carbon in the Council’s housing stock will cost over 
£500m, with a cost of between £56k-101k per property, depending on 
archetype and based on retrofitting one property at a time. 

 
6.4 Following the Net Zero Carbon Council homes study, the Council has 

also launched a Net Zero Carbon pilot housing project where it plans to 
invest up to a further £5m to retrofit 50 Council homes to net zero 
carbon standards. The pilot will bring benefits to low-income tenants by 
reducing their energy bills and carbon emissions and will help to 
stimulate the market for zero carbon retrofit installers in Cambridge. 
The Council started engagement in July 2022 with interested council 
tenants to join the pilot project. In August 2022, 25 residents had signed 
up (half the allocated places on the scheme).  Work is expected to start 
on site in 2023 and complete in 2024. 
 

6.5 Action 2.4 – Commissioning a study to identify measures needed to 
retrofit different archetypes of private homes: The Council procured an 
expert consultancy to carry out a retrofit study to identify which energy 
efficiency and renewable energy measures would need to be installed 

Page 51



 Report page no. 22       Agenda page no. 
 

 

for 7 common property archetypes in Cambridge to reach net zero 
carbon emissions and model the capital costs of these improvements.  
 

6.6 The study found that the 7 archetypes would cost an estimated £85,000 
to £125,000 per property to achieve net zero carbon standards. The 
study recognises that these costs are very high for individual properties 
and would be out of reach for the majority of households. The total cost 
to retrofit the 41,000 private housing homes to a net zero carbon 
standard is estimated at £4.65 billion.  
 

6.7 The study recommends that an 80% carbon reduction, which 
approximates to the London Energy Transition Initiative (LETI) 
standards, may be more cost effective. This is because achieving the 
final 20% of carbon savings incurs disproportionally high costs for 
measures such as additional external wall insulation (where there is 
already cavity wall insulation) or triple glazing.  To achieve an 80% 
carbon reduction target would still cost an estimated £60,000 - £90,000 
per home and the total cost of retrofitting all private homes in 
Cambridge would be £3.52 billion. The Council will use the findings of 
the report to inform future bids to Government for funding for energy 
efficiency programmes and lobbying Government in relation to the 
criteria for these schemes. 

 
6.8 As part of the project, the consultants have completed an engaging and 

accessible guidance document for residents, setting out which carbon 
reduction measures could install in their property (based on common 
property archetypes) and how to go about installing them. The guidance 
sets out different levels of investment that property owners can make 
depending on their budget, from low and no-cost measures, through to 
deeper retrofit measures. The Council will be promoting this guidance 
to residents during autumn 2022. 

 
6.9 Action 2.5 - Funding to deliver retrofitting of energy efficiency measures 

to private homes in Cambridge: In February 2021 the Council was 
successful in its consortium bid with other Cambridgeshire local 
authorities to the Government’s Green Homes Grant Local Authority 
Delivery (LAD) scheme LAD1b fund and was awarded just over £2m to 
deliver the project. The project was subsequently extended to run until 

Page 52



 Report page no. 23       Agenda page no. 
 

 

August 2022.  The project is on schedule to support around 180 homes 
across Cambridgeshire with energy efficiency improvements, with 98 of 
these located in Cambridge.  
 

6.10 In December 2021 the Council was successful in its £6.46m consortium 
bid with other Cambridgeshire local authorities to the Government’s 
Sustainable Warmth Scheme (which includes LAD3 and HUG1). The 
project aims to support retrofitting private homes with energy efficiency 
improvements across Cambridgeshire from April 2022 - March 2023. 
The project is currently being affected by local and national supply 
chain capacity issues and the restrictive criteria of the funding streams. 
To combat these issues, the Council are working with BEIS to maximise 
delivery and adapt the scheme to support as many residents as 
possible 
 

6.11 The Council will shortly be going out to tender to secure a four-year 
framework relationship with up to six contractors to deliver energy 
efficiency measures, including insulation, in private homes. This 
framework agreement will help increase capacity to deliver Government 
funded schemes such as the Sustainable Warmth Scheme. The 
Framework Agreement will also be accessible to residents, helping 
homeowners who are in a position to pay for measures to navigate the 
market for suppliers and find contractors to do retrofit work. The 
suppliers within the framework will be vetted and approved by the 
Council. 
 

6.12 Action 2.3 - Promoting group-buying schemes for solar PV: The Council 
has worked with Cambridgeshire County Council to promote a solar PV 
collective purchase scheme which provides residents with solar PV and 
battery storage installations at a significantly reduced cost. The scheme 
is run as an auction, with interested residents registering with iChoosr 
(at no obligation) and installers then bidding to provide solar PV for the 
group of interested residents. Through the first round of the Solar 
Together scheme in 2020, 145 individual property installations took 
place in Cambridge with a total of 144 solar PV arrays installed and 109 
batteries. A second round of the scheme was launched in February 
2022. So far, 547 households have accepted the initial offer and 

Page 53



 Report page no. 24       Agenda page no. 
 

 

properties are now undergoing additional technical surveys to confirm 
suitability. The first installations in Cambridge are expected to take 
place in Autumn 2022.   

 
6.13 Action 2.8 Building control retrofit advice 

In autumn 2021, the Council launched a pilot to provide residents with 
retrofitting advice. As part of Phase 1 of the pilot, virtual seminars on 
energy and sustainability awareness and updates to building 
regulations, and CPD sessions on energy efficiency upgrades have 
been delivered. These online and face-to-face sessions reached 
audiences between 30-150 people. As part of the next phase of the 
project, an infographic and guide about sustainability in the home is 
being finalised, which will be sent to residents. 
 

6.14 Three 3C Building Control team members have undertaken Passivhaus 
accreditation training, and 8 members of the team will shortly be 
completing SAP Assessment and Domestic Energy Assessor training, 
3C surveyors are also trialling better quality thermal imaging cameras. 
 

6.15 Action 2.6 - Taking enforcement action against private landlords if their 
properties do not meet the national Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standards: From April 2021, the national Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standards (MEES) require landlords and property managers to ensure 
that privately rented homes reach a minimum EPC rating of E. The 
Council will take enforcement action against private landlords whose 
properties do not meet these standards. The Council had aimed to 
intervene in relation to 150 private rented sector properties regarding 
MEES annually from 2020/21 onwards, but this was not possible due to 
a combination of Covid restrictions and recruitment issues. However, 
from April-June 2022, the Council intervened in relation to 45 properties 
to seek to improve energy efficiency standards of these properties. 

 
Energy efficiency and low carbon energy in new homes 

 
6.16 The Council has assisted residents to reduce their carbon emissions by 

taking steps to improve energy efficiency and increase low carbon and 
renewable energy generation in new homes in Cambridge. 

Page 54



 Report page no. 25       Agenda page no. 
 

 

6.17 Action 2.2 - Building up to 1000 new homes to Passivhaus standards: 
The Council is currently building 538 new Council homes for rent, using 
£70m Government funding via the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Devolution Deal. Of the 538 homes, 166 have been completed, 370 are 
on site and 2 are approved. These homes are being built to high 
sustainability standards, with an average of 8 out of 10 schemes in the 
programme expected to attain carbon emissions standards of 35% 
below those required by building regulations. 

 
6.18 In January 2021, the Council committed to build a further 1,000 new 

Council homes to Passivhaus standards, where technically feasible and 
subject to funding. The Council will target net zero carbon standards for 
Council homes built from 2030 onwards.  Passivhaus pilot schemes are 
now on site at Fen Road, Ditton Fields and Borrow Dale, with a further 
Passivhaus pilot site at Aylesborough awaiting planning permission. Of 
the 1,000 homes, 111 homes for rent are approved, of which 52 are on 
site. These homes will be built to high efficiency standards using 
Passivhaus principles together with a fabric-led approach. There has 
been significant learning from the pilot schemes and other initiatives on 
the current programme.  The Council is now looking at options for future 
delivery towards the net zero target, whilst also managing the costs of 
the programme with issues of economic inflation in the building 
industry. 
 

6.19 Action 2.7 - Developing new policies requiring high standards on carbon 
emissions reduction and environmental sustainability for new homes 
and non-residential developments as part of the new Greater 
Cambridge Local Plan: The Council is currently working jointly with 
South Cambridgeshire District Council to prepare a Greater Cambridge 
Local Plan, which will set policies for new development from the date of 
adoption to 2041. In autumn 2021, there was a consultation on 
preferred options, including policies related to net zero carbon homes 
and buildings. Following consultation on the First Proposals document, 
officers are now reviewing consultation responses and further 
developing the policies ahead of consultation on the draft Greater 
Cambridge Local Plan in autumn 2023.  

  

Page 55



 Report page no. 26       Agenda page no. 
 

 

7. Progress in delivering the key actions under Objective 3: 
 
Improving bus, cycling and walking routes 

7.1 The Council has taken a number of steps in 2021/22 to improve 
transport infrastructure, increase the sustainability of transport, and 
encourage residents to shift to more sustainable modes of transport, 
such as bus travel and cycling. These actions include: 
 

7.2 Action 3.1 - Supporting the Greater Cambridge Partnership (GCP) to 
deliver a range of walking, cycling and bus improvements on key routes 
into and across Cambridge: The Council is one of the key partners in 
the GCP, alongside Cambridgeshire County Council and South 
Cambridgeshire District Council. The GCP is delivering a 
comprehensive programme of sustainable transport initiatives. The 
Histon Road project completed significant upgrades in October 2021 
including a dedicated bus lane, floating bus stops, and additional and 
wider cycle lanes. Construction of new bus lanes and active travel links 
to create more reliable public transport trips and safer walking and 
cycling journeys along Milton Road began in July 2022. The GCP 
Executive Board agreed to progress 12 Greenways schemes (providing 
radial cycling and walking routes connecting Cambridge and 
surrounding settlements and employment sites) and the public 
consultation on the plans is underway.  
 

7.3 The GCP launched the first ‘Making Connections’ public consultation in 
November 2021 asking for people’s views on proposals to improve bus 
and active travel routes and encourage people to make more journeys 
by public transport, cycling or walking.  Residents were asked to 
consider how best to reallocate road space to accommodate more 
buses and active travel routes, as well as options for raising an ongoing 
funding stream to pay for an improved public transport network in the 
future. Residents were invited to give their views on a possible form of 
charging for driving within the city, with options including a flexible 
charge, a pollution charge or parking charges. 

 
7.4  The findings of the first ‘Making Connections’ consultation have 

informed a proposed package of measures (as part of a City Access 

Page 56



 Report page no. 27       Agenda page no. 
 

 

Strategy) for a further consultation, comprising:  
• A transformed bus network, with additional orbital and express 

services, offering faster, more frequent, more reliable services 
with longer operating hours and new routes with flat fares to make 
public transport cheap and accessible.  

• Improvements to cycling and walking infrastructure and public 
realm enhancements with options for new cross-city cycling 
routes to encourage more active travel.  

• A Sustainable Travel Zone consisting of a road user charge 
designed to fund the bus and active travel improvements and 
reduce traffic levels to create space for improved bus and active 
travel journeys.   

The Executive Board of the Greater Cambridge Partnership on 28 
September 2022 is being asked to agree a public consultation in 
autumn 2022 on this proposed package of measures to improve public 
transport services and active travel and introduce a Sustainable Travel 
Zone comprising a road user charging scheme. 

 
7.5 The Council has produced a new active lifestyles map9 of the city’s 

indoor and outdoor community sports facilities, which includes the new 
cycle routes and links around the city. 

 
Supporting the take-up of electric vehicles 
 

7.6 Shifting petrol and diesel vehicles to electric vehicles will make a 
significant contribution to decarbonising transport, because electric 
vehicles are more energy efficient and electric power is increasingly 
being generated from renewable sources. Central government has 
announced that all new vehicles in the UK will be electric from 2030 
onwards, and it is currently providing subsidies of up to 75% of the cost 
of installing off-street EV charging points.  

 
7.7 However, there is also a role for the Council and its partners in helping 

to accelerate the installation of electric vehicle charging infrastructure in 
Cambridge, as this will help increase the viability of electric vehicles for 
residents and businesses. The Council produced an Electric Vehicle 

 
9 www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/8264/community-sports-facilities-leaflet.pdf  

Page 57

http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/8264/community-sports-facilities-leaflet.pdf


 Report page no. 28       Agenda page no. 
 

 

and Infrastructure Strategy in October 2019, which identifies how the 
Council and its partners can help to increase the number of electric 
charging points available within the city. 
 

7.8 In April 2020, the Council implemented a new licensing policy  
Requiring all new taxis registered in Cambridge to be Ultra Low 
Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) or zero emissions vehicles from 2020, and 
all taxis to be ULEVs or zero emissions vehicles by 2028 (Action 3.8) 
There are currently 49 fully electric (zero emission10) and 20 Ultra Low 
Emission11 taxis have been licensed, out of a total of approximately 500 
licenced taxi vehicles in Cambridge, and numbers of electric taxis are 
increasing each year.  
 

7.9 Action 3.7 - Completing installation of 18 rapid and 3 fast electric 
charge points for taxis in Cambridge: The Council is installing electric 
charge points for taxis with funding from Government (£426,000), the 
Council (£100,000) and GCP (£100,000). The project was due to 
complete in 2021, but the Covid pandemic significantly delayed the 
work of UK Power Networks (UKPN) on the project. 18 chargers have 
now been installed and are operational. Two of the three remaining 
sites are in the process of having the last 3 chargers installed, which 
are all expected to be completed by the end of 2022.    

 
7.10 Action 3.10 - Procuring a commercial partner by 2022 to deliver electric 

vehicle charging infrastructure in Council car parks and other Council-
owned land and sites: Following a procurement process, the Council is 
working in partnership with Connected Kerb, one of the UK’s largest 
providers of EV charging companies, to provide a network of circa 800 
publicly accessible charging points across the Council’s car park 
portfolio. This equates to 1 in 4 spaces with provision to charge an EV.  

 
7.11 A mixture of slow, medium and high-rate charge points, will be installed 

at 14 sites across Cambridge over the next few years. The first 56 
chargers will be installed at Castle Hill, Adam and Eve and Gwydir 

 
10 Zero emission vehicles are those that emit no emissions during their operation. These include battery 
electric vehicles, hydrogen fuel cell vehicles, and electric vehicles 
11 Plug-in hybrid vehicles or extended range electric vehicles (E-Rev) with CO2 emissions less than 75g per 
km 

Page 58



 Report page no. 29       Agenda page no. 
 

 

Street pay and display car parks by the end of October 2022 and a total 
of 177 charging points are expected to be installed by March 2022.  
 

7.12 Where a maximum stay time is set for EV bays during daytime hours, 
this will be for four hours maximum stay so the public have access to a 
substantial charge. The chargers in the car parks will also be accessible 
to residents, who may have no other charging provision, to charge their 
electric car overnight from 6pm to 8am Monday to Saturday and 
Sundays 6pm to 10am with no parking charge, incentivising the move 
to electric vehicles for residents with only on-street parking.  
 

7.13 The contract with Connected Kerb includes the design, installation, 
operation (including the provision of energy), marketing, maintenance 
and any futureproofing for the lifetime of the contract at no cost to the 
council. Once usage of the chargers achieves gateway usage levels, 
the contract provides an income to the Council via a percentage of 
gross turnover. 

 
7.14 Action 3.11 - Working with Cambridgeshire County Council and UK 

Power Networks to facilitate on-street residential electric charge points 
where there is no scope for off-street charging: As part of a pilot project, 
38 fast 7kw charge points and 4 rapid 50kw chargers are being installed 
in two residential areas of West Chesterton and Abbey wards where off-
street parking is extremely constrained. 32 of the 7kw chargers have 
been installed to date and the project is now expected to be completed 
by Autumn 2022. The project is being funded by UKPN (UK Power 
Networks) and OZEV (Office for Zero Emission Vehicles). The County 
Council are leading the partnership with involvement from the City 
Council, as the deployment is predominantly on-street, with the 
exception of 2 fast and 1 rapid charger at River Lane Car park.  

 
7.15 Action 3.13 - Working with GCP and bus operators to explore 

opportunities for further investment in electric buses: The Council and 
the GCP supported a successful bid by the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) for funding from the 
Department for Transport's (DfT) Zero Emission Buses Regional Area 
(ZEBRA) scheme. The funding will provide an additional 30 electric 
buses to operate on the Park & Ride and Citi2 routes in Cambridge, 

Page 59



 Report page no. 30       Agenda page no. 
 

 

with the new buses expected to enter service from late 2022 onwards. It 
is envisaged that the initial 30 buses would form the first stage in a 
rolling programme to move the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough bus 
fleet to zero emission vehicles. 

 
8. Progress in delivering the key actions under Objective 4: 

 
8.1 The Greater Cambridge Shared Waste Service (GCSWS) has ongoing 

plans in place to encourage re-use, repair, waste reduction and further 
improve recycling rates. These are included in the Circular Resource 
Strategy which outlines key areas that the GCSWS is working on 
throughout the year. Further information about what the GCSWS is 
doing to improve recycling rates can also be found in the Recycling 
Rates Report provided for this Committee on 6 October 2022.  

8.2 GCSWS works in collaboration with the County Council and six other 
local authorities as part of the RECAP Partnership.  RECAP is about to 
embark on the update of the adopted Waste Strategy to take into 
account zero waste objectives and meet the anticipated future 
requirements of the government’s national Resources and Waste 
Strategy, including key aspects such as Deposit Return Schemes 
(DRS), Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) and consistent 
recycling collections nationwide. The strategy update is a major piece of 
work that should result in a template for the collection and treatment of 
waste in the Region and lead to much increased diversion of waste 
from landfill, recycling and composting and overall waste reduction.  
 

8.3 The Council has delivered or funded a number of activities in 2021/22 
to encourage and support residents and businesses to reduce their 
consumption of resources, reduce waste and increase recycling. These 
actions include:   
 

8.4 Action 4.4 - Extending trials of separate collections of food waste to 
more households: During 2020 the GCSWS began to trial separate 
food waste collections to 4000 households in West Chesterton, East 
Chesterton and Arbury. Phase 3 of the trial was implemented in 
December 2021 in Trumpington with an additional 5000 households. In 
total there are 8,147 houses and 1,102 flats in Cambridge using the 

Page 60



 Report page no. 31       Agenda page no. 
 

 

scheme. Overall average participation rate is 51% (above the national 
average of 45%).  These trials showed that separate weekly food waste 
collections significantly increased the volume of food waste recycled 
per household and reduced food waste (approximately 30% of people 
generated less food waste since having the weekly collection, 
confirmed by Waste Analysis).  
 

8.5 The current method of treatment (by the County Council as the Waste 
Disposal Authority), is ‘In Vessel Composting.’  This is a fast process 
which means that food degrades quickly (within six weeks) and 
therefore any bags that contain the food need to degrade at the same 
rate to meet DEFRAs standards. One objective of the Council’s food 
waste trial is to understand if it can successfully use bio-degradable 
bags instead of paper bags to collect the waste, and if the bags meet 
the required DEFRA standard. To date the trial has shown that there 
have been no problems. However, further research would be required 
to check increased volume would still maintain a positive result. 
Therefore, any expansion needs to be carefully controlled and in 
consultation with the County Council, and Amey (the Waste Treatment 
Contractor). 

 
8.6 To date, the food waste trial has been funded from existing budgets and 

resources. Further details from central government on mandatory 
separate collection of food waste are still awaited along with information 
regarding funding. In the meantime, there will be a proposal for both 
South Cambridgeshire District Council and Cambridge City Council to 
fund the continuation of the trial to bridge the gap until national funds 
become available, which is expected to be in 2025. An update report on 
the food waste trial was presented to the GCSWS Steering Committee 
on Wednesday 24th August. 
 

8.7 The GCSWS also provides a discounted home composting scheme, 
working with GetComposting to provide competitive prices for compost 
bins. GetComposting work with Local Authorities nationally to provide 
this service. The Circular Resource Strategy includes a goal to further 
promote and market the scheme to ensure effective take-up. The 
GCSWS are currently reviewing upcoming GetComposting promotions 
to utilise them and align communications to residents for maximum 

Page 61



 Report page no. 32       Agenda page no. 
 

 

effect. Alongside the discount scheme, a suite of social media artwork 
has been produced and the next promotional campaign will start as part 
of Zero Waste Week in September 2022.  

 
8.8 Action 4.3 – Reducing plastics usage at Council-run events such as 

Cambridge Festival and the Big Weekend: To reduce the use of plastics 
at Council-run events, the Council has implemented a ban on the use of 
single use plastics by on site caterers and backstage at Council-run 
events. To further increase the sustainability of Council-run events, the 
Council has also worked in partnership with Cambridge Water to 
provide refillable containers and free drinking water at events to reduce 
the number of single-use plastic bottles and containers being used.  
 

8.9 Action 4.5 - Continue communications campaigns to raise awareness 
and encourage residents to recycle more: Recycling communication 
campaigns continued in 2021/22, using national awareness days to 
reach wider audiences and raise awareness. For example, social media 
messages have been shared for The Big Plastic Count campaign in 
May 2022 and World Oceans Day, World Environment Day and World 
Refill Day during June 2022. A communications campaign focused on 
contamination of waste is being planned for 2023 to target households 
that regularly contaminate bins to reduce the contamination rate to 
below 7%.  
 

8.10 Action 4.1 – Funding activities through the Council’s Sustainable City 
Grants by voluntary and community groups to reduce consumption and 
increase repair, re-use and recycling: The Council agreed to fund a 
number of activities during 2022/23 which will encourage residents and 
businesses to reduce consumption and repair, re-use and recycle 
goods. Papworth Trust will provide free bicycle repairs and refurbished 
bicycles to low-income residents referred to the project, reducing travel 
by fossil fuelled vehicles. Cambridge Carbon Footprint will run a 
‘climate advice festival’ with a programme of talks and a sustainable 
fashion campaign, promoting clothes swops and supporting groups to 
run events and build on their existing repair café programme.   

 
 

Page 62



 Report page no. 33       Agenda page no. 
 

 

9. Progress in delivering the key actions under Objective 5  
 
9.1 The Council has taken a number of actions to help promote sustainable 

food in Cambridge in 2021/22. These actions include:   
 
9.2 Action 5.4 - Working with the Cambridge Sustainable Food network 

towards achieving the Sustainable Food Cities Network Gold Award for 
Cambridge. The Cambridge Sustainable Food Partnership, which 
includes the Council, launched its #Gold Food Cambridge bid in May 
2022 to be the UK’s third Gold Award winner in June 202412. The 
partnership achieved the Bronze Award in 2016, and the Silver Award 
in July 2021 from Sustainable Food Places, one of the first six cities in 
the UK to have achieved the silver award. A plan for the Gold Award 
has been submitted to Sustainable Food Places which focusses on six 
key themes and two areas of excellence including ‘Action on climate 
and biodiversity’ and ‘From food insecurity to food justice: developing a 
new approach to ensure good food for all’. The submission of interest 
will be prepared by the end of December 2023. 
 

9.3 Action 5.8 - Working with local voluntary and community groups and 
other partners to promote sustainable food practices to local 
businesses: The Council has agreed to fund CoFarm through the 
Sustainable City Grants have been funded to deliver open co-farming 
sessions in 2022/23, engaging the community to produce sustainably 
grown food which is then distributed through community food hubs in 
the city. The Council will also fund Cambridge Sustainable Food to 
deliver a range of activities during 2022/23, including running events 
and working in depth with 3 food businesses on the sustainable 
sourcing module of the business awards scheme, and holding a ‘food 
and climate festival’ for resident to learn about the importance of 
local/seasonal/sustainably produced food and how to access it.  

 
9.4 Action 5.2 - Work in partnership with local voluntary and community 

groups to address food poverty, including working with Cambridge Food 
Poverty Alliance and Cambridge Sustainable Food to develop a food re-
distribution hub: During 2021/22 the Council supported a programme of 

 
12 https://cambridgesustainablefood.org/goldfoodcambridge/about 

Page 63



 Report page no. 34       Agenda page no. 
 

 

free lunches delivered by local partners for low-income families during 
school holidays in areas of highest need in Cambridge. As Covid 
restrictions eased, hot lunches were made available through local food 
hubs in 7 wards. The Council also organised a food justice event in 
Cambridge in May 2022 to bring together local partners to discuss 
opportunities to collaborate. Following this event, a food poverty and 
sustainability conference is planned for May 2023.  
 

9.5 The Council has progressed the food distribution and community 
kitchen project (formally known as the Food Hub project). The project 
will relocate from Buchan Street Neighbourhood Centre in 2022, 
moving into temporary accommodation on Barnwell Drive.  Following 
this, the project plans to be housed at the North-East Cambridge 
meanwhile site for up to 15 years (subject to planning approvals).  
 

9.6 Action 5.1 - Incorporating sustainable food principles in council catering 
and at Council-run events where possible: At Council-run events, when 
procuring catering, through the formal tendering process, the Council 
strongly encourages vegan and vegetarian units to apply. Sustainability 
is also a requirement of catering contracts for example, fair trade 
products and sustainable products are required to be used, and any 
meat that is sold should be of a certain standard. In May 2022, the 
Council passed a plant-based food motion which recognised the 
importance of reducing meat consumption to help to reduce carbon 
emissions and aims to normalise plant-based food and resolved to:  

• Begin to transition to fully plant-based catering for all future 
Council meetings where food is served. 

• Investigate the practicalities of using Civic events to promote and 
showcase plant-based food options. 

• Ensure that there is a minimum of one plant-based food option 
available at City Council run events and events on City Council 
open spaces which involve catering. 

• When re-tendering for suppliers, require that plant-based food 
and drink options will be available at kiosks on City Council open 
spaces and cafes. 

• When re-tendering for suppliers for Council run cafes, specify that 
plant-based options are listed above non plant-based options. 

 

Page 64



 Report page no. 35       Agenda page no. 
 

 

10. Progress in delivering the key actions under Objective 6 
(adaptation) 

  
10.1 The Council recognises that in addition to reducing carbon emissions to 

mitigate climate change, it is equally important to ensure that 
Cambridge adapts to the impacts of climate change, such as increases 
in flood events; water shortages and droughts; and increased summer 
temperatures and overheating. In July 2019, the highest temperature on 
record in the UK was recorded at the Botanic Gardens in Cambridge at 
38.7ºC. This was exceeded in number of places in July 2022, and a 
new UK record temperature was confirmed at 40.3 ºC in Coningsby, 
Lincolnshire. The July 2022 heatwave in England led to water 
shortages and wildfires and contributed to fatalities caused by drowning 
and overheating.  

 
10.2 During the heatwave the Council focused its social media channels on 

messages to keep people stay safe in the extreme heat. This included: 
 
• extra support for rough sleepers and homeless people  
• promoting safety messages from the fire service and NHS 
• sharing posts from Cambridge Water reminding people to use water 

sparingly during the ongoing warm weather. 
 
10.3 The council has implemented a number of actions in 2021/22 to support 

Council services, residents and businesses to adapt to the impacts of 
climate change, including heatwaves, water shortages and flooding: 
 

10.4 Action 6.5 - Exploring opportunities to manage climate risks through 
policies in the new Local Plan:  The First Proposals for the Greater 
Cambridge Local Plan included options related to responding to a 
changing climate. They set out requirements to mitigate the risk of 
overheating in new developments, as well as options related to flood 
risk and sustainable draining. Following consultation on the First 
Proposals document, officers are now reviewing the consultation 
responses and further developing the policies ahead of consultation on 
the draft Greater Cambridge Local Plan in autumn 2023. 
 

10.5 A planning informative has also recently been developed in relation to 

Page 65



 Report page no. 36       Agenda page no. 
 

 

the new Part O requirements from Building Regulations, to ensure that 
new developments meet the requirements of that standard in relation to 
overheating and that any changes to the design of proposals required 
to meet these new requirements are submitted to the local planning 
authority for approval.  
 

10.6 The Council has implemented a number of actions to reduce 
overheating in new Council homes and new build private homes 
including: 
• Using the PassivHaus Planning Package (PHPP) toolkit for all new 

Council homes schemes, which enables an assessment of energy 
consumption, overheating and comfort in homes and has resulted in 
schemes designed to mitigate overheating through their orientation. 

• Installing mechanical ventilation in new Council homes, which 
provides fresh cool air. 

• Reviewing how effective measures have been in Council homes 
through post occupancy evaluation feedback. 

 
10.7 Action 6.6 – Increasing the tree canopy cover through tree planting and 

protection on public and private land, and using parks, open spaces 
and other green infrastructure in the city to help regulate temperatures: 
During 2021/22 the Council planted 594 trees in streets and parks, and 
planted two small wooded areas at Logans Meadow and 5 Trees, 
Chesterton which consisted of a further 860 trees approximately. 
Through the Free Trees for Babies scheme and the Neighbourhood 
Canopy Campaign scheme, the Council gave away an additional 360 
trees.  The Council has also served 38 Tree Preservation Orders to 
protect trees of high amenity value and ran 9 public tree planting events 
with the Community Engagement Team to raise awareness about the 
importance of tree cover for climate change adaptation. 

 
10.8 Action 6.9 - Delivering a measurable biodiversity net gain on the City 

Council’s estate: In June 2022 the final Biodiversity Strategy and Action 
Plan 2022-2030. was approved for adoption at Environment & Scrutiny 
Committee. The Strategy was informed by the biodiversity audit and 
consultation carried out in July-November 2021.  The Strategy will focus 
on delivering a measurable biodiversity net gain on the Councils estate 

Page 66



 Report page no. 37       Agenda page no. 
 

 

from a DEFRA metric baseline. The actions in the strategy are grouped 
under three themes:  
 
• Biodiversity Mainstreaming: embedding biodiversity across all 

council services 
• The Core: enhancing the key wildlife sites and habitats the Council 

manages 
• Nature in your Neighbourhood: working in partnership with other 

organisations and individuals to increase biodiversity across the city. 
 

10.9 Action 6.11 - Implementing projects to manage water courses and 
improve biodiversity, including a project to improve rare chalk stream 
habitats in Cambridge: In June 2021, watercourse restoration work was 
completed at Cherry Hinton Brook and Vicar’s Brook. This included 
reduction of scrub to let in more light to the watercourse, bank 
reprofiling to improve their flow and storage capacity and introduction of 
gravels and dead wood features for spawning fish and invertebrates to 
deliver wider biodiversity benefits. The Council also worked in 
partnership with Abbey People to secure funding from the Pebble fund13 
in October 2021. The funding was used for two projects at Coldham's 
Brook next to Barnwell West LNR: in December 2021 tree and scrub 
management along the brook, and in March 2022, channel 
enhancements were implemented for approximately 200m. A bid to the 
Flourishing Environment Fund14 has been submitted for additional 
works in 2022/23. 

 

11.  Implications 
 
a) Financial Implications 

Funding for projects included in the Carbon Management Plan comes from 
a number of different funding sources, including the Council’s Climate 
Change Fund and existing General Fund or Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) budgets for delivering services.  The Council plans to make further 
allocations to the Climate Change Fund to deliver Carbon Management 
Plan projects through the Council’s annual budget setting process. The 

 
13 PEBBLE Fund (cambridge-water.co.uk) 
14 Flourishing Environment Fund (Anglian Water) 

Page 67

https://www.cambridge-water.co.uk/environment/biodiversity/pebble-fund#:%7E:text=PEBBLE%20is%20the%20biodiversity%20improvement%20fund%20from%20Cambridge,area.%20Projects%20should%20also%20have%20a%20community%20benefit.
https://www.cambscf.org.uk/anglian-water-flourishing-environment


 Report page no. 38       Agenda page no. 
 

 

Council will also seek Government funding (e.g. from the Public Sector 
Decarbonisation Scheme) for projects in the Carbon Management Plan, as 
opportunities arise.  

 
The actions contained in the wider Climate Change Strategy will be funded 
through primarily through existing budgets for delivering key services. 
These fall within the General Fund or the HRA depending on the services 
involved. We will also seek Government and other external funding 
sources for specific climate change initiatives, where this is available (e.g. 
from the Sustainable Warmth Scheme, Social Housing Decarbonisation 
Fund, Office for Zero Emissions Vehicles etc).  

 
b) Staffing Implications 

Lead officers have been identified for projects in the Climate Change 
Strategy and Carbon Management Plan who have the capacity to deliver 
the projects within the stated timescales. The Climate Change Officers co-
ordinate the overall delivery of the Climate Change Strategy and Carbon 
Management Plan, with support from the Environment Policy and Project 
Group, which is a corporate group that includes many of the lead officers. 

 
c) Equality and Poverty Implications 

An Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) of the Climate Change Strategy 
and Carbon Management Plan has been carried out and is published on 
the Council’s website: www.cambridge.gov.uk/equality-impact-
assessments The EqIA did not identify any negative equality impacts from 
actions and projects identified in the strategy.  

 
d) Net Zero Carbon, Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

The Climate Change Strategy and the Carbon Management Plan will have 
a high positive impact on the environment by setting out a planned 
approach to: reducing the Council’s carbon emissions; setting high 
standards for residents, businesses and organisations to reduce their 
carbon emissions and manage climate risks; and working in partnership 
with, influencing and learning from other organisations to address the 
causes and effects of climate change.  

 
 

Page 68

http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/equality-impact-assessments
http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/equality-impact-assessments


 Report page no. 39       Agenda page no. 
 

 

e) Procurement Implications 
Recent projects identified in the previous Carbon Management Plan have 
been delivered through the national REFIT 3 framework, which allowed us 
to access Bouygues Group PLC as a contractor to identify and deliver 
energy efficiency projects. The projects were delivered on an energy 
performance contracting basis, which meant that Bouygues guaranteed the 
energy savings predicted for the projects (subject to the new equipment 
being managed within defined limits). In April 2020, Cambridgeshire 
County Council led a consortium of local authorities, including Cambridge 
City Council to procure a partner for future energy efficiency and renewable 
energy schemes. Bouygues were appointed as the contractor through this 
process. 

 
f) Community Safety Implications 

The Climate Change Strategy and Carbon Management Plan have minimal 
impact on Community Safety. 

 
12.  Consultation and communication considerations 
 

To inform the development of the Climate Change Strategy, we carried out: 5 
online workshops in November 2020 attended by a total of 75 residents; an 
online consultation survey completed by 252 residents; a workshop with key 
businesses and institutions in Cambridge in January 2021; 3 Climate Change 
Forum meetings with local environmental groups; regular meetings with 
Cambridge Zero and other University of Cambridge and Anglia Ruskin 
academics with climate change expertise. 

 
The content of this report, and in particular the updated Action Plan, will be 
communicated to residents and businesses through a news release, articles 
in Cambridge Matters and made available on the council’s website. 
 

13. Background papers 
 
No background papers were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
 
 

Page 69



 Report page no. 40       Agenda page no. 
 

 

14. Appendices 
 
• Appendix A – Climate Change Strategy – Action Plan 
• Appendix B – Carbon Management Plan - 2021/22 
• Appendix C – Environmental Policy Statement 

 

15. Inspection of papers 
 
To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please 
contact David Kidston, Strategy and Partnerships Manager, tel: 01223 
457043, email: david.kidston@cambridge.gov.uk  

Page 70

mailto:david.kidston@cambridge.gov.uk


 

Appendix A – Climate Change Strategy – Action Plan 
 

Ref Action Resources Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
1.1 Deliver energy efficiency and 

renewable energy projects 
identified in the Council’s Carbon 
Management Plan for 2021-2026 to 
reduce carbon emissions from 
corporate buildings (including 
swimming pools, sheltered and 
temporary housing, administrative 
buildings, car parks, community 
centres, the Corn Exchange and 
the crematorium).  

Officers 
throughout the 
council. Climate 
Change Fund. 

2021/22 Projects 
completed - 
March 2022 

2022-26 projects 
identified, funding 
identified / applied 
for and measures 
installed/ 
implemented - 
March 2026 

  Ongoing to March 
2026 

Net zero carbon 
emissions by 
2030 for our 
corporate 
buildings  

1.2 Bid for future central government 
funding and other green energy 
funding available for investments in 
energy efficiency and 
decarbonisation measures in the 
Council’s corporate buildings 

Corporate Energy 
Manager  

Identify and 
prepare 
information in 
preparation for 
future funding 
rounds - PSDS 
Funding Round 3 
to Open Sept -
Dec 2022 

Apply for PSDS 
round if 
appropriate 
project. TBC (Dec 
2022?) 

Apply for PSDS or 
other funding 
round if 
appropriate March 
2023/25 

Ongoing to March 
2026 

Reduce emissions 
in the Council’s 
corporate 
buildings. 

1.3 Review the Council’s Office 
Accommodation Strategy, including 
an assessment of whether existing 
office buildings should be retained 
or rationalised 

Business 
Transformation 
resource required.  
Business case to 
be prepared to 
identify resource 
needs. 

Prepare business 
case to agree 
approach, identify 
requirements post 
Covid/ Business 
Transformation 
programme, 
actions and 
outcomes and 
resource 
requirements.   
Oct 2021 

Business case 
and resources 
approved and in 
place - April 2022 

Report to 
Committee with 
recommendations 
– October 2022 

March 2023 TBC 

P
age 71



 

Ref Action Resources Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
1.4 Purchase Ultra Low Emission 

Vehicles (ULEV) when replacing 
vans and trucks in the Council’s 
fleet (where there is a suitable 
ULEV alternative and the 
infrastructure allows) 

General fund BSR Project reliant on 
EV charging 
infrastructure 
2022/23 

Vehicle 
specifications 
agreed with end 
user April 2023 
and ongoing 

Delivery of 
vehicles to spec 
September 2023 
and ongoing 

Annually to2030 4.39 ktCO2 

1.5 Purchase ultra-low emission 
vehicles (electric or hydrogen) 
when replacing refuse lorries  

Mainstream 
budget  

June 2022 vehicle 
2 and September 
2022 vehicle 3 
commissioned 

March 2025 
vehicle 4 
commissioned  

March 29 vehicle 
5,6,7 
commissioned 

Annually to 2029 6 vehicles 
commissioned by 
2029 

1.6 Identify and assess the required 
improvements possible to 
remaining existing commercial 
properties (that will not be 
redeveloped as part of the 
commercial property 
redevelopment programme) to 
achieve net zero carbon, and 
obtain costs estimates for the 
improvement works 

Property Services, 
Estates & 
Facilities 

Complete 
assessment of all 
Energy 
Performance 
Certificates for 
commercial 
properties - 
August 2021 

Action plans for all 
properties to be 
prepared to 
identify 
prioritisation and 
asset 
management 
decisions for 
costed 
programme 
through to 2030 - 
November 2022 

Budget bids to be 
prepared for 
2023/24 onwards 
for any costs not 
within existing 
allocated capital 
spend on 
commercial 
property - August 
2023 

Annually through 
to 2030 

TBC although 
savings may be to 
tenants in 
occupation 

1.7 Identify and assess the 
performance standards to achieve 
net zero carbon for any new 
commercial buildings or 
redevelopment of existing buildings 

Existing staff 
resource and 
working with 
designers on a 
scheme-by-
scheme basis 

April 2022 – First 
General Fund 
redevelopment 
scheme proposal 

As and when 
redevelopment 
schemes are 
proposed as each 
scheme may differ 
depending upon 
use/type 

  Ongoing for 
duration of 
General Fund 
redevelopment 
programme 

Ongoing as 
schemes come 
forward and each 
scheme will be 
reported to 
Committee.   

1.8 Consider the use of the Council’s 
reserves to invest in innovative 
“green investments” to facilitate 
measures to offset climate change. 

General Fund 
Reserves 

MTFS 2021 - will 
identify prudent 
minimum balance 
of reserves and 
the amount of 
reserves required 

MTFS 2022 - will 
identify prudent 
minimum balance 
of reserves and 
the amount of 
reserves required 

N/A As and when 
suitable green 
investments come 
forward for 
funding 

N/A 

P
age 72



 

Ref Action Resources Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
to support the 
transformation 
programme. The 
balance would be 
available for 
investment. 

to support the 
transformation 
programme. The 
balance would be 
available for 
investment 

1.9 Review standard tender packs to 
include the Councils expectations 
around climate change. 

Climate Change 
Officer 

Instruction to 
Bidders document 
(which forms part 
of the Tender 
Pack) - 
Environmental 
Factors section 
reviewed and 
updated - August 
2021. 

Updated 
Environmental 
Factors section 
included in 
Instruction to 
Bidders document 
– August 2021 

  August 2021 and 
then reviewed 
annually 

Reduce emissions 
from future 
council contracts.  

1.10 Provide written guidance for 
contract managers on climate 
change measures that could be 
included in contracts and include 
this information in procurement and 
contract management training for 
staff. 

Climate Change 
Officer 

Provision of 
guidance and 
inclusion in 
procurement and 
contract 
management 
training for staff - 
November 2021 

    November 2021 
and then reviewed 
annually 

Reduce emissions 
from future 
council contracts. 

1.11 Explore the potential for a review of 
climate change and sustainability 
commitments by the Council’s 
existing suppliers, and work with 
these suppliers to improve their 
performance.  

Climate Change 
Officer 

      Starting July and 
working through a 
programme  

Reduce emissions 
from current 
council contracts. 

1.12 Revise and update the existing 
Climate Change Assessment tool 
to include net zero carbon 
considerations and use this to 
assess the climate change impacts 

Climate Change 
Officer 

Tool updated and 
communicated to 
staff - August 
2021 

    August 2021   

P
age 73



 

Ref Action Resources Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
of budget bids, business cases for 
capital projects and committee 
reports 

 
Ref Action  Resources Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
2.1 Investing £2.5 million in energy 

efficiency improvements to 
Council homes with poor energy 
efficiency ratings (predominantly 
Energy Performance Certificate D 
to G rated stock) from 2020/21 to 
2021/22. 

Energy 
Assessor/surveyor 
role and part of 
Corporate Energy 
Manager time 

August 2021 Phase 
1 of works 
completed. 

March 2022 
completion of 
project 

n/a March 2022 To reach a 
minimum of EPC 
C (B where 
possible) in at 
least 140 Council 
Properties that 
are currently an 
EPC D or below. 
Can provide 
ktCO2 on 
completion of post 
EPCs. 

2.2 Building 1000 new homes to 
Passivhaus standards (where 
technically feasible and subject to 
funding) and targeting net zero 
carbon standards for Council 
homes built from 2030 onwards. 

Housing 
Development 
Agency (HDA) 
project teams 

June 2021- first 
Passivhaus pilot 
site with planning 

August -22 first 
Passivhaus 
scheme start on 
site 

 December 2023 
– initial review of 
pilot scheme 

2021 onwards To deliver new 
housing as low 
carbon- at least 
35% reduction on 
2013 building 
regulations and 
80% with new 
SAP calculations 

2.3 Promoting group-buying schemes, 
including working with 
Cambridgeshire County Council to 
promote the Solar Together 
collective scheme to 
homeowners, which provides 
residents with solar PV and 
battery storage installations at a 
significantly reduced cost 

Environmental 
Projects Team 
Leader 

First auction held in 
September 2020 

A further round is 
being considered 
for later in 2021. 

 A second round 
of Solar Together 
was run in 
February 2022 

Ongoing to March 
2026 

150 properties 
supported 

P
age 74



 

Ref Action  Resources Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
2.4 Commissioning a study to identify 

measures needed to retrofit 
private homes in Cambridge to 
net zero carbon standards and 
producing detailed guidance for 
homeowners and landlords 

Allocated – 
Climate Change 
Research and 
Projects budget  

Procurement 
completed and 
contract awarded – 
September 2021 

Final report – 
December 2021 

Guidance for 
homeowners and 
landlords – March 
2022 

March 2022  N/A 

2.5 Bidding for central government 
funding available for retrofitting 
energy efficiency measures to 
private homes, including future 
rounds of the Green Homes Grant 
Local Authority Delivery (LAD) 
scheme. 

Environmental 
Projects Team 
Leader & Project 
Officer recruited 
from funding.  

Cambridgeshire 
local authority 
consortium £6.46m 
bid into the 
Sustainable 
Warmth Scheme 
(includes LAD3 and 
HUG1). Scheduled 
to be implemented 
from January 2022 
- March 2023 if bid 
is successful. 
  

LAD1b funding 
extended to 
August 2022 

Cambridgeshire 
local authority 
consortium LAD3 
and HUG1 bid 
successful. So 
consortium is 
delivering £6.46m 
of support from 
April 2022 - 
March 2023 under 
the Sustainable 
Warmth scheme 

Annually as 
opportunities 
arise 

55 properties to 
be supported 
through the 
Sustainable 
Warmth Scheme 
in Cambridge 

2.6 Targeted enforcement of 
Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standards Regulations where 
appropriate (EPC F and G rated 
private rented housing stock) 

Existing Team 
staff resources 

2021 / 22 - 150 
MEES interventions 
any follow up action 
taken in line with 
Regulations, officer 
procedure & 
corporate 
enforcement policy. 

Milestone 1 rolled 
over for action / 
completion within 
2022/23 

  Ongoing review 
milestones end 
2022/23  

2021 / 22 - 
targeted 
intervention in 
relation to 150 
private rented 
sector properties 
and seeking to 
improve energy 
efficiency 
standards of 
these. 

2.7 Developing new policies requiring 
high standards on carbon 
emissions reduction and 
environmental sustainability for 
new homes and non-residential 

Existing Greater 
Cambridge 
Shared Planning 
Service service 
budgets 

Autumn 2021 - 
consultation on 
preferred options 
including policies 
related to net zero 

Autumn 2023 - 
consultation on 
draft Greater 
Cambridge Local 
Plan (Reg 18) 

Proposed 
submission 
consultation 
(Autumn 2024), 
with Submission 

Following 
examination 

All new 
homes/non-
residential 
buildings to meet 
the net zero 

P
age 75



 

Ref Action  Resources Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
developments as part of the new 
Greater Cambridge Local Plan, 
taking into account the outcomes 
of the net zero evidence base 
study and other evidence 
informing the plan, as well as the 
national planning policy 
framework  

carbon buildings to Secretary of 
State for 
examination 
(Summer/Autumn 
2025) 

carbon buildings 
requirements set 
out in the new 
Local Plan 

2.8 Building control retrofit advice Existing Team 
staff resources 

A pilot will start in 
autumn 2021 to 
provide residents 
with retrofitting 
advice. 

 Phase 2 – 
purchasing of 
thermal imaging 
cameras, 
template of advice 
for residents 
including 
signposting and 
images of 
properties 

2023 For domestic 
projects (i.e. new 
homes, 
extensions and 
refurbishments) 
60% utilising 
Council building 
control teams  

 
 

Ref Action  Resources  Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
3.1 Supporting the Greater Cambridge 

Partnership (GCP) to deliver a 
range of walking, cycling and bus 
improvements on key routes into 
and across Cambridge, including: 
• The Chisholm Trail cycling route 
connecting Cambridge and 
Cambridge North Stations 
• 12 Greenways, providing radial 
cycling and walking routes 
connecting Cambridge and 
surrounding settlements and 

GCP Officer time, 
CCC support 
where required  

Completion of 
initial projects, 
Histon Road and 
Chisholm Trail 
Phase 1 
completed in late 
2021 

Approval of 
construction for 
Milton Road, 
Greenways and 
other cycling, 
walking and bus 
improvements by 
end of 2025 

Construction of 
schemes ongoing 
to March 2026 

Ongoing to March 
2026 

  

P
age 76



 

Ref Action  Resources  Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
employment sites. 
• Bus, cycling and walking priority 
schemes on Histon Road and Milton 
Road 
• Public transport corridor schemes 
to connect growing communities to 
employment hubs 

3.2 Implementing the Local Lettings 
Plan framework for new Council 
housing developments, which will 
give priority to people working within 
an agreed geographical radius of 
the development. This measure is 
intended to help reduce commuting 
by car from tenants of new Council 
housing developments 

Existing staff 
resources 

Darwin Green 
Local Lettings 
Plan developed 
as a pilot – 
published 
May/June 2021 

Consultation with 
Registered 
Providers (RPs) 
of social housing 
on wider 
framework by 
December 2021 

Publication by 
March 2022 

March 2022   

3.3 Building new Council housing 
developments in Cambridge with a 
target of less than one car parking 
space per home to encourage travel 
by walking, cycling or public 
transport, subject to individual 
development requirements  

Existing staff 
resources 

New sustainable 
housing design 
guide to include 
car parking ratios 

New sustainable 
design guide 
issued – Summer 
2021 

Review of car 
parking on 
delivered 
schemes 2024 

Ongoing Encourage travel 
by walking, 
cycling or public 
transport 

3.4 Promote sustainable modes of 
transport through the planning 
system by: 
• Applying policies in the current 
Local Plan to support housing and 
non-residential development which 
prioritises access by walking, 
cycling and public transport. 
• Develop new policies related to 
promoting sustainable transport and 
ensure that the accessibility of new 
development sites to sustainable 

Existing services 
budgets (note that 
for planning 
applications, 
advice related to 
sustainable 
transport is led by 
Cambridgeshire 
County Council) 

Autumn 2021 - 
consultation on 
preferred options 
including policies 
related to 
sustainable 
transport 

Autumn 2023 - 
consultation on 
draft Greater 
Cambridge Local 
Plan (Reg 18) 

Proposed 
submission 
consultation 
(Autumn 2024), 
with Submission 
to Secretary of 
State for 
examination 
(Summer/autumn 
2025) 

Following 
examination 

Sustainable 
transport policies 
identified in new 
Local Plan 
implemented in 
new 
developments  

P
age 77

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/local-lettings-plans
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/local-lettings-plans
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/local-lettings-plans
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/local-lettings-plans
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/local-lettings-plans
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/local-lettings-plans


 

Ref Action  Resources  Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
transport infrastructure is a key 
aspect in decision making in 
preparing the Greater Cambridge 
Local Plan. 

3.5 Developing and undertaking a 
programme of activities in the city to 
promote walking, cycling and the 
use of public transport across a 
range of settings including schools, 
colleges, workplaces, open spaces 
and communities (through the 
Active Travel Officer and Active 
Lifestyles Team) 

Active Travel 
Officer (new post) 
Responsible for 
developing and 
undertaking a 
programme of 
activities in 
Cambridge City to 
promote walking, 
cycling and the 
use of public 
transport across a 
range of settings 
including schools, 
colleges, 
workplaces, and 
communities. 

Job description 
agreed and 
evaluated 

Consultation 
paper on changes 
within Streets and 
Open Spaces 
structure 

Implementation of 
structure changes 
and recruitment to 
Active Travel 
Officer 

From 2021 
onwards. 

Recruitment to 
post autumn 2022 

3.6 Encouraging attendees and 
contractors at Council run events, 
including the Cambridge Folk 
Festival and Corn Exchange, to 
consider more sustainable transport 
options when travelling to events, 
and working with the County 
Council transport team to ensure 
the city evening economy is served 
by sufficient bus transport taking 
people back out to outlying towns 
and villages. 

Existing budget 
and staff 
resources. 

Oct 21 and 
ongoing - Devise 
and implement a 
marketing 
campaign within 
the event 
marketing to 
communicate 
sustainable 
transport options. 

Oct 21 and 
ongoing - 
Establish a joint 
marketing and 
services with 
Stagecoach and 
other public 
transport 
providers i.e. 
Shuttlebus from 
the station to Big 
Weekend. 

Increase cycle 
parking at Bonfire 
Night and Big 
Weekend. 

Ongoing to March 
2026 

  

3.7 Completing installation of 18 rapid 
and 3 fast electric charge points for 

£100k City 
Capital; £100k 

Four Sites (8 
Rapids by March 

Remaining 13 
Chargers installed 

  December 2022   

P
age 78



 

Ref Action  Resources  Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
taxis in Cambridge by 2021 GCP capital: 

£426k OLEV 
Grant Funding 

2019) Completed by end of 
December 2021 
(4 of 13 are 
installed and 
operating 

3.8 Requiring all new taxis registered in 
Cambridge to be Ultra Low 
Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) or zero 
emissions vehicles from 2020, and 
all taxis to be ULEVs or zero 
emissions vehicles by 2028 

Early adopter fee 
waiver budget of 
£150k, all other 
costs within 
normal revenue 

Policy adopted; 
June 2019 

Policy 
implemented from 
1st April 2020 

All Licensed Taxis 
ULEV by 31st 
December 2028 

2028   

3.9 Using guidance in the Sustainable 
Design and Construction 
Supplementary Planning Document 
to require provision of electric 
vehicle charging points in future 
new housing and non-residential 
developments and consider the 
need for new policies in the Greater 
Cambridge Local Plan to support 
the electrification of transport. 

Existing staff 
resources from 
Greater 
Cambridge 
Shared Planning 
Service (GCSP) 
and 
Environmental 
Health 

Autumn 2021 - 
consultation on 
preferred options 
including policies 
related to EV 
charge point 
provision 

Autumn 2023 - 
consultation on 
draft Greater 
Cambridge Local 
Plan 

  Ongoing Every new 
development has 
the amount of 
charge points as 
set out in the SPD 

3.10 Delivery of electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure in Council car parks 
through a commercial partner 

Net zero 
capex/opex for 
the Council 
solution  

Award of contract 
Sept/Oct 21 

August 2022 - In 
delivery phase 

First installation 
due August 2022 

December 2030   

3.11 Working with Cambridgeshire 
County Council and UK Power 
Networks to facilitate on-street 
residential electric charge points 
where there is no scope for off-
street charging. 3 initial pilot 
schemes for ‘charging collectives’ 
will be procured during 2021. 

£100K City 
Council Capital 
allocation; £119k 
OZEV ORCS 
Funding; £ 1 
million+ UKPN 
Green Recovery 
Fund 

Funding Secured 
from UKPN and 
OZEV completed 
in June 2021 

Procure 
contractor for 
supply, 
installation, 
running, 
maintenance of 
charge points. 
(BP 
Chargemaster 
Pulse awarded 

Install and deliver 
38 in street 
charging sockets 
for public use by 
October 2022 

October 2022   

P
age 79



 

Ref Action  Resources  Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
July 2021) 

3.12 Working with Cambridgeshire 
County Council and the CPCA on a 
wider electric vehicle charging 
strategy. 

        Ongoing   

3.13 Working with GCP and bus 
operators to explore opportunities 
for further investment in electric 
buses. 

City, GCP and 
CPCA officer time 

February 2020 – 
launch of electric 
bus trial 

August 2021 – 
CPCA submission 
of bid for DfT 
ZEBRA funding 
for 30 additional 
electric buses 

Deployment of 
additional buses 
from late-2022 

Ongoing Reduction in 
carbon emissions 
in Cambridge as a 
result of reduced 
diesel fuel 
consumption by 
buses 

 
 

Ref Action - please review wording Resources  Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
4.1 Funding activities through the 

Council’s Sustainable City Grants 
by voluntary and community 
groups to reduce consumption and 
increase repair, re-use and 
recycling 

Climate change 
Officer - 
assessment of 
applications for 
funding from the 
Sustainable City 
Grant (SCG) and 
Grants Team 
officers - 
administration of 
grants process. 

Applications for 
the 2022/23 SCG 
are assessed, 
and funding 
agreements 
finalised. 

Applications for 
the 2023/24 SCG 
are assessed, 
and funding 
agreements 
finalised. 

Applications for 
the 2024/25 SCG 
are assessed, 
and funding 
agreements 
finalised. 

Annually Reduction in 
emissions in the 
city as a result of 
reduced energy 
consumption, 
waste or reduced 
transport powered 
by fossil fuels. 

4.2 Supporting the national Refill 
campaign by promoting over 100 
free drinking water taps in 
Cambridge, including a number of 
drinking taps and fountains 
provided by the Council. 

Within existing 
staff resource and 
use of S106 
monies (when 
appropriate) 

Web site and 
Web App 
presence.  
www.refill.org.uk/r
efill-cambridge/  

Additional water 
fountains 
installed. 

  Ongoing   

P
age 80

http://www.refill.org.uk/refill-cambridge/
http://www.refill.org.uk/refill-cambridge/


 

Ref Action - please review wording Resources  Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
4.3 Reducing plastics usage at 

Council-run events such as 
Cambridge Folk Festival and the 
Big Weekend 

Within existing 
budgets and staff 
resource 

Oct 21 - Require 
caterers to not 
use single use 
plastics or plastic 
condiment sachet 

Dec 2021 - 
Devise and 
implement 
influencing 
campaign to 
influence other 
departments and 
contractors 

Jun 2022 - 
implement 
analysis of each 
event (by section) 
to provide 
quantitative data 
to measure 
against 

Ongoing 
 

4.4 Maintain trials of separate 
collections of food waste to 
approximately 10k households 
(evidence to date suggests this 
increases recycling of food waste 
and ultimately reduces the amount 
of household food waste). 

Within existing 
budget and, in the 
future, internal 
funding to be 
sought for 2022-
2025, central 
government 
funding should be 
available in 2025 

December 2020 – 
phase 2 of trial 
implemented to 
make 4,000 HH 
on trial in total 

December 2021 – 
phase 3 of trial 
implemented to 
add a further 
5,000 on the trial  

2025 – outcome 
of national waste 
strategy to guide 
future 
development 

Annually Reduction of 
amount of food 
waste in the black 
bin, currently 30% 
as confirmed by 
Waste analysis 

4.5 Continue communications 
campaigns as documented in 
Circular Resource Strategy to 
encourage residents to recycle 
more, generate less waste and 
contaminate less. Using 
communications channels such as 
events, social media, leaflets and 
residents’ magazines 

Within existing 
budget  

May 2022- social 
media messages 
delivered on The 
Big Plastic Count 
campaign 

June 2022- social 
media messages 
delivered on 
World Oceans 
Day, World 
Environment Day 
and World Refill 
Day 

March 2023- 
deliver a 
contamination 
campaign to 
target households 
that regularly 
contaminate bins 

Ongoing Recycling rate 
52% 
Contamination 
rate below 7% 

4.6 Encouraging businesses to take-up 
recycling and food-waste 
collections provided by the Council 
on a commercial basis 

Within existing 
budgets 

April 2022 – 
number of new 
customers of 
proceeding year 

April 2023 – 
number of new 
customers of 
proceeding year 

April 2024- 
number of new 
customers of 
proceeding year 

Ongoing 60 per year 

P
age 81



 

Ref Action - please review wording Resources  Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
4.7 Working with leading businesses 

and manufacturers to reduce 
packaging and make products 
more re-useable and recyclable 

Within existing 
budgets 

December 2024 - 
review outcome of 
national waste 
strategy and 
impact of 
packaging 
production 

    Ongoing   

 
Ref Action  Resources  Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
5.1 Incorporating sustainable food 

principles in council catering and 
at Council-run events where 
possible 

This is dependent of 
food providers at 
council run events 
that are directed by 
the fair terms and 
conditions set out in 
council licenses and 
contracts. 

Contracts and 
licenses are 
continually being 
reviewed to 
incorporate 
sustainable food 
principles, where 
possible, within 
the legal 
frameworks that 
apply. 

    Ongoing 
 

5.2 Work in partnership with local 
voluntary and community groups 
to address food poverty, 
including working with 
Cambridge Food Poverty 
Alliance and Cambridge 
Sustainable Food to develop a 
food re-distribution hub 

a) use of 
Cambridgeshire 
County Council 
funds to support 
fuel/food poverty 
projects                  
b) £100K capital 
funds allocated for 
redistribution hub   c) 
Staffing resourced 
through community 
services baseline 
budget  

August 2021: 
£30K (county 
funding) 
redistributed to 
voluntary 
organisations s for 
summer holiday, 
food/fuel poverty 
programmes  

Redistribution hub 
moves from temp 
home at Buchan 
St prior to 
premises 
demolition 

Work on 
sustainable 
business plan for 
project beyond life 
of council funding 
- Present to Sept 
2023 

Re-distribution 
hub re-locates 
on/before Autumn 
2022 

 

5.3 Supporting the work of local Staffing resourced Funding provided 8x food hubs Review Ongoing 
 

P
age 82



 

Ref Action  Resources  Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
Community Food Hubs to 
provide free, sustainable food to 
residents affected by the Covid-
19 pandemic 

through community 
services baseline 
budget. Funding 
provided through 
Covid funding 
streams 

to: CECF 
/CSF/Foodbank to 
support 
emergency food/ 
pandemic 
recovery  

working together 
with food poverty 
alliance to agree 
next steps Oct 
2022 

emergency food 
parcel provision 
post pandemic 
June 2022  

5.4 Working with the Cambridge 
Sustainable Food Partnership 
towards achieving the 
Sustainable Food Cities Network 
Gold Award for Cambridge. 

CSF CIC has 
provided resources 
in terms of officer 
time to assemble 
and submit 
applications. 
Partners to 
contribute actions. 

The Silver Award 
was assigned by 
Sustainable Food 
Places to 
Cambridge City 
on 2 July. Work 
has begun to 
prepare an outline 
submission for 
Gold Award - 
launched in May 
2022. 

Prepare a 
submission of 
interest for Gold 
Award for the city 
by the end of 
December 2023. 

Final application 
for Gold Award 
submitted by 
March 2024. 

June 2024 Gold Award 
achieved in June 
2024 

5.5 Encouraging residents to choose 
sustainable, local food and to 
reduce meat consumption 
through corporate 
communications messages 

Existing staff 
resource 

Communications 
prepared to 
coincide with 
COP26 in 
November 2021 

Communications 
prepared to 
coincide with 
upcoming national 
awareness days: 
Food Waste 
Action Week 
(March 2022) and 
National 
Vegetarian Week 
(May 2022) 

  Ongoing to March 
2026 

Ongoing 

P
age 83



 

Ref Action  Resources  Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3  Completion date  Target  
5.6 Maintaining the current level of 

occupancy rates at existing 
allotments and supporting take-
up of new community gardens 
and allotments in growth sites to 
encourage residents to grow their 
own food  

Existing staff 
resource 

Regular 
inspections for 
non-cultivation, 
followed by 
enforcement 
leading to 
termination so 
plots can be 
allocated to those 
on the waiting lists 

Allocation of new 
and existing plots 
as soon as they 
are made 
available 

   Ongoing  Ongoing 

5.7 Using guidance in the 
Sustainable Design and 
Construction Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) to 
encourage developers to 
incorporate food growing in new 
housing and non-residential 
development (e.g. providing fruit 
trees, roof top gardens and 
growing space as part of 
landscape design) 

Existing service 
budgets 

 
    Ongoing until new 

Greater 
Cambridge Local 
Plan comes into 
force 

  

5.8 Working with local voluntary and 
community groups and other 
partners to promote sustainable 
food practices to local 
businesses 

Use of Sustainable 
City Grant to fund 
activities  

Projects funded 
for delivery in 
2022/23  

Projects funded 
for delivery in 
2023/24 

Projects funded 
for delivery in 
2024/25 

Ongoing to March 
2026 

Ongoing (annually 
through 
Sustainable City 
Grants) 

 
 
 
 

P
age 84



 

Ref Action  Resources  Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3 Completion date Target  
6.1 Developing an Environmental 

Management System (EMS) for 
Environmental Services activity 
and seek ISO40001 accreditation. 
This will include a focus on 
reducing water consumption, 
potentially through reduce plant 
watering and sourcing water 
through rainwater harvesting 
systems for plant watering and 
public toilets. 

Existing staff 
resource 

Audit and draft 
an EMS for 
S&OS.   

Implement and carry 
out first assessment 
of EMS effectiveness 

Modify EMA and 
seek achievement 
if accreditation to 
ISO 14001 

March 2022 March 2022 

6.2 Working with Cambridge Water to 
promote water saving messages 
to residents and businesses  

Existing staff 
resource 

Communications 
prepared to 
coincide with 
upcoming 
national 
awareness days 

    Ongoing to 
March 2026 

Water 
consumption of 
homes and 
businesses 
reduced 

6.3 Promoting the use of council 
pools/ paddling pools/ splash 
pads in the event of hosepipe 
bans in conjunction with the local 
water company, to encourage 
residents to utilise council facilities 
instead of using water to fill up 
garden paddling pools etc. 

Social media and 
web-based 
messaging. 

This action will 
only be 
implemented if 
there is a hose 
pipe ban and will 
come into 
actioning then 

N/A N/A N/A Ongoing 

6.4 Requiring new housing to meet 
the water efficiency standards in 
the current Local Plan (maximum 
of 110 litres/person/day) and 
explore where higher standards 
may be needed in the new Local 
Plan. 

Existing service 
budgets 

Autumn 2021 - 
consultation on 
preferred 
options including 
options related 
to enhanced 
levels of water 
efficiency 

Autumn 2023 - 
consultation on draft 
Greater Cambridge 
Local Plan 

  Ongoing until 
adoption of the 
Greater 
Cambridge Local 
Plan 

All housing 
developments to 
achieve 110 
litres/person/day 

P
age 85



 

Ref Action  Resources  Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3 Completion date Target  
6.5 Exploring opportunities to manage 

climate risks through policies in 
the new Local Plan, subject to the 
outcomes of the current national 
consultation on planning reforms. 
This could include: water 
efficiency policies to help reduce 
water consumption and manage 
water resources; designing 
buildings that are simple to keep 
cool; and Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SUDs) measures to 
help reduce flood risk. 

Existing service 
budgets 

Autumn 2021 - 
consultation on 
preferred 
options including 
options related 
to designing for 
a changing 
climate and 
flood risk and 
sustainable 
drainage 

Autumn 2023 - 
consultation on draft 
Greater Cambridge 
Local Plan 

Proposed 
submission 
consultation 
(Autumn 2024) 
with Submission 
to Secretary of 
State for 
examination 
(Summer/Autumn 
2025) 

Following 
examination 

 

6.6 Increasing the tree canopy cover 
through tree planting and 
protection on public and private 
land, and using parks, open 
spaces and other green 
infrastructure in the city to help 
regulate temperatures. 

Existing service 
budgets and 
grant funding 
(e.g. Interreg 
funding for the 
Nature Smart 
Cities across the 
2 Sea project and 
the Cambridge 
canopy project 
pilot) 

Complete our 
commitments to 
the Nature 
Smart Cities 
across the 2 
Seas project. 
2022 

New tree strategy. 
2026 

2% increase in 
tree canopy 
cover. 2050 

2050 330.3 tCO2 

6.7 Providing advice to residents on 
how to reduce health risks during 
heatwaves  

Existing staff 
resources  

Communications 
prepared to 
coincide with 
summer / usual 
heatwave 
periods 

    Ongoing to 
March 2026 

Increased 
awareness of 
health risks 
during heatwaves 

6.8 Working with Cambridgeshire 
County Council and other partners 
in the Cambridgeshire & 
Peterborough Flood and Water 
Management Group (CP FloW) to 

Existing staff 
resources 

Continuing to 
work with the 
partnership 
including 
inputting into the 

Local flood risk 
management strategy 
action plan approval 
due- December 2021 

   Ongoing 
 

P
age 86



 

Ref Action  Resources  Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3 Completion date Target  
manage climate change-related 
flood risks. 

local flood risk 
management 
strategy action 
plan - October 
2021 deadline 
for review of the 
most recent 
draft  

6.9 Delivering a measurable 
biodiversity net gain on the City 
Council’s estate through 
enhanced management of 
existing Local Nature Reserves 
and making parks and housing 
open spaces more hospitable to 
wildlife through creation 
of meadows, scrub and woodland. 

Adoption and 
implementation of 
new Biodiversity 
Strategy and 
Action Plan- 
existing revenue 
budgets, S106 
and EIP projects. 

30/11/21 
Complete 
consultation on 
draft Biodiversity 
Strategy, amend 
and create 
Action Plan 

June 2022 - Present 
final Biodiversity 
Strategy and Action 
Plan for adoption at 
Environment & 
Community Scrutiny 
Committee 

   Ongoing Measurable 
biodiversity net 
gain on the City 
Council’s estate 

6.10 Engaging and influencing 
individuals, institutions and 
businesses to take steps to make 
their land more hospitable and 
permeable to wildlife and help 
create a citywide network of sites. 

Adoption and 
implementation of 
new Biodiversity 
Strategy and 
Action Plan- 
existing revenue 
budgets, S106 
and EIP projects. 

30/11/21 
Complete 
Consultation on 
draft Biodiversity 
Strategy, amend 
and create 
Action Plan 

June 2022 - Present 
final Biodiversity 
Strategy and Action 
Plan for adoption at 
Environment & 
Community Scrutiny 
Committee 

   Ongoing Ongoing 

6.11 Implementing projects to manage 
water courses and improve 
biodiversity, including a project to 
improve rare chalk stream 
habitats in Cambridge. Initial work 
will focus on Cherry Hinton Brook, 
Vicars Brook at Coe Fen, and 
Coldham’s Brook on Stourbridge 
Common. 

June 2021 Cherry 
Hinton Brook and 
Vicars Brook 
works complete 

Secure Pebble 
Funding - 
October 2021 

December 2021 - 
Implement tree and 
scrub works along 
Coldham's Brook 

March 2022 -
Implement in 
channel 
Coldham's Brook 
enhancements 
approx. 200m 

 Ongoing Ongoing 

P
age 87



 

Ref Action  Resources  Milestone 1  Milestone 2  Milestone 3 Completion date Target  
6.12 Move to cease the use of 

herbicide on grass road verges 
and trial using a new grass cutting 
and collecting machine, which will 
reduce cuttings left on verges, 
reduce the fertility of the soil for 
wildlife and support biodiversity. 

New resource 
secured on a 
temporary 
contract 

Scope the use 
of a Trial 
following the 
Council Motion 
on the 22 July 
2021.   

Report to Committee 
in late 2021 or early 
2022 

Trial underway in 
agreed locations 
Spring 2022 

March 2022 January 2023 
Review of trial 
from 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 88



 

Appendix B – Carbon Management Plan projects 
 

2021-22 Projects Cost Climate 
Change 
Fund 
contribution 

Contribution 
from other 
sources 

Estimated 
annual 
energy 
savings 
(kWh) 

Estimated 
annual 
carbon 
savings 
(tCO2e) 

Estimated 
annual 
financial 
savings 

Financial 
payback 

LATEST UPDATE ON 
PROJECT AS OF 
AUGUST 2022 

LEISURE SITES 
Parkside Pool: 
Installation of 2 ASHP, 
additional solar PV, LED 
lighting, BEMS and 
pipework insulation. 

£988,946   - £988,946 
PSDS 
application 

1,739,437 336 £27,689 35.7 Completed June 2022. 

Parkside Pool: 
Replacement and 
reduction of boiler 
provision 

£227,370   - £227,370 
Capital 

175,674 32.3 £4,392 51.8 Completed June 2022. 

Abbey Leisure Complex: 
Installation of a 300kW 
ASHP, BEMS, LED 
lighting and pipework 
insulation. 

£717,601   - £717,601 
PSDS 
application 

872,384 184 £1,046 686 Completed June 2022. 

CORN EXCHANGE 
Corn Exchange: 
New heating boilers, 
HVAC and insulation of 
pipework, BEMS and LED 
lighting. 

£119,208   - £119,208 
Capital 

208,534 43 £7,074 26.4 Completed May 2022. 

CREMATORIUM 
Crematorium: 
HVAC improvements, 
BEMS, LED lighting, 
insulation. 

Estimated: 
£39,902 

  - £39,902 141,932 28 £4,327 9.2 Further Investigation 
Required: Ongoing. 
 
 
 
  

P
age 89



 

LANDLORD LIGHTING IN AUTHORITY OWNED HOUSING 
Sackville Close: 
Replacement of 
communal lights with LED 
lamps and appropriate 
controls. 

£ 36,905.90   - TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC Completed: September 
2021 subject to resolution 
of operational issues.  

FLEET 
Shared Waste Service: 
Purchase of 5 further 
electric Refuse Collection 
Vehicles (RCV) for use 
across the service. 

TBC   - TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC In Progress: The second 
electric Refuse Collection 
Vehicle (eRCV) was 
received in June 2022 and 
a third is due for delivery 
in September 2022. 

CAR PARKS 
Grand Arcade Annex: 
Air Handling Unit 
replacement 

£38,564 - £38,564 TBC TBC TBC TBC Completed: New fan 
motors and a building 
energy management 
system (BEMS) were 
installed in February 2022. 
The new fans are more 
efficient and a new the 
BEMS (Building Energy 
Management System) will 
improve control and 
therefore the efficiency of 
the operation of the fans.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 90



 

2022-23 Projects Cost Climate 
Change 
Fund 
contribution 

Contribution 
from other 
sources 

Estimated 
annual 
energy 
savings 
(kWh) 

Estimated 
annual 
carbon 
savings 
(tCO2e) 

Estimated 
annual 
financial 
savings 

Financial 
payback 

LATEST UPDATE ON 
PROJECT AS OF 
AUGUST 2022 

STREETLIGHTING 
Streetlighting: 
Replacement of remaining 
HRA streetlamp columns 
and lanterns with LED 
units. Estimated 63% 
reduction on the baseline. 

£513,826.00  - £513,826.00 97,925 27.2 TBC TBC In Progress: Expected to 
start replacement works in 
September 2022 to 
upgrade 300 lanterns, 172 
columns and 5 bollards 
and be completed this 
year.  

LANDLORD LIGHTING IN AUTHORITY OWNED HOUSING 
New Street Hostel: 
Insultation and lighting 
improvements: Installation 
of external wall insulation 
and replacing communal 
lighting with LED 
equivalent. 

£175,000 - TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC In Progress: Quotes 
obtained and expected to 
be installed during 
2022/23 

Communal lighting in 
blocks of flats: 
Replacement of 
communal lights within 
blocks of flats on housing 
estates with LED lamps 
and appropriate controls. 

£887,600 - TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC In Progress: prioritising 
those sites where 
emergency lighting has 
been identified as a 
requirement 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 91



 

Appendix C – Environmental Policy Statement  
 
CAMBRIDGE CITY COUNCIL  
ENVIRONMENT POLICY STATEMENT  
 

Vision 
Tackling climate change and making Cambridge cleaner and greener is a key priority of the Council. The Council’s vision is for 
Cambridge to be ‘A city that takes robust action to tackle the local and global threat of climate change, both internally and in partnership 
with local organisations and residents, and to minimise its environmental impact by cutting carbon, waste and pollution’.  
 
The Council is committed to deliver this vision by promoting a high quality and sustainable environment which maximises the 
opportunities to lower carbon emissions, reduce waste and consumption of resources, and improve biodiversity, air quality and climate 
change resilience. 
 
This commitment is highlighted in our Corporate Plan for 2022-2027 which sets out our four key priorities for the city: 

• Leading Cambridge’s response to the climate change and biodiversity emergencies 
• Tackling poverty and inequality and helping people in greatest need 
• Building a new generation of council and affordable homes and reducing homelessness 
• Modernising the council to lead a green city that is fair for all 

 

Commitments 
Climate Change and carbon reduction: The Council declared a Climate Emergency in February 2019, and the Council’s Climate 
Change Strategy 2021-2026 shares a vision for Cambridge to be net zero carbon by 2030. The strategy has also set a target to reduce 
the Council’s direct carbon emissions from its corporate buildings, fleet vehicles and business travel to net zero by 2030.  
 
Biodiversity and the local environment: The Council declared a Biodiversity Emergency in 2019, and the Council’s Biodiversity 
Strategy 2022-2030 aims to secure a measurable net gain in biodiversity across the City by 2025 and support the Natural Cambridgeshire 
Doubling Nature Vision by 2030. 
 
Through the strategy, the Council commits to: biodiversity mainstreaming so that nature is considered and embedded into everything we 

P
age 92

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/corporate-plan-2022-27-our-priorities-for-cambridge
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/climate-change-strategy
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/climate-change-strategy
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/documents/s59643/Appendix%20B%20-%20Cambridge%20City%20Council%20Biodiversity%20Strategy%202022-2030%20FINAL%20circulation.pdf
https://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/documents/s59643/Appendix%20B%20-%20Cambridge%20City%20Council%20Biodiversity%20Strategy%202022-2030%20FINAL%20circulation.pdf


 

do, ensuring a coherent resilient nature network through Cambridge and ensuring nature is understood and experienced by all. 
 
The Council will make its streets and open spaces and communities more resilient to the impacts of climate change and manage the 
city’s streets and open spaces for the benefit of both wildlife and people by ensuring that protection and enhancement of biodiversity is 
taken into account in all development decisions and management practices.  
 
Trees: The Council will work to ensure a resilient tree population and will manage the city’s trees so as to maximise the benefits they 
offer whilst ensuring that the trees we leave for future generations, and the character they bring to our City, are better than those we have 
inherited. The Council’s Tree Strategy 2016-2026 sets a target to increase tree canopy cover across the city by 2% to 19% by 2030. 
 
Water: The Council is tackling issues of water quality and water scarcity in the city which are mainly caused by abstraction, wastewater 
treatment discharges and agricultural diffuse pollution. To address these issues the Council has commissioned an Integrated Water 
Management Study to inform the new Greater Cambridge Local Plan. The study will help to develop a sustainable development strategy 
for the Local Plan and robust policies on water quality and efficiency. The Council is working collaboratively with a number of bodies on 
this, including Water Resources East, who are planning regional solutions to address these issues. The current Cambridge Local Plan 
(adopted in 2018) includes policies to increase water efficiency including a target for new developments to ensure water efficiency does 
not exceed 110litres/per/day and that they are designed to optimise the opportunities for efficient water use, reuse and recycling, 
including integrated water management and water conservation.  

Waste: The Council is committed to increasing recycling in the city in order to maximise use of finite resources, thereby minimising 
energy use and waste disposal. The Council develops services that result in reductions in carbon emissions and support the waste 
hierarchy: putting waste prevention first, supporting and enabling reuse, and encouraging recycling. The Council supports national and 
European pressures for change to reduce the amount of biodegradable waste that is sent to landfill. The Council will coordinate and 
enhance the treatment (by the Waste Disposal Authority) of collected material waste from across the city in the most economical and 
environmentally responsible manner available, in accordance with statutory requirements and will provide help, advice and education 
where required. 

Commercial Waste: In providing commercial waste collection services for businesses and organisations in Cambridge, the Council will 
ensure that concern for the environment actively influences our working practice every day. Our business and operational activities 
demonstrate commitment to the prevention of pollution and continual improvement, whilst complying with all relevant legislation and other 
environmental guidelines relating to the organisation’s environmental aspects. 

Transport: The Council will lead by example to tackle emissions from transport in the city and reduce concentrations of air pollutants and 
the Electric Vehicle and Infrastructure Strategy outlines the Council’s commitment to increase uptake of electric vehicles and supports the 
transition to electric vehicles (EVs) in Cambridge. The Council will also reduce its direct travel emissions by increasing the number of staff 
not driving to/from work, and increasing the number cycling to work, choosing healthy commuting options.  

Air Quality: The Council’s Air Quality Action Plan 2018-2023 sets out how Cambridge City Council will improve areas of poor air quality 

P
age 93

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/tree-strategy#:%7E:text=Supporting%20documentation,worst%20effects%20of%20climate%20change.
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/7988/electric-vehicle-and-infrastructure-strategy.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/air-quality-action-plan


 

in the city and maintain a good level of air quality in a growing city. Cambridge City Council has worked with the Greater Cambridge 
Partnership and Cambridgeshire County Council to identify a range of actions which are required to tackle air quality and will take 
responsibility for ensuring they are progressed. The new Air Quality Action Plan 2023 will take into account legal changes brought in by 
the Environment Act and will include more action on smoke from solid fuels as well as transport emissions. The Council has also 
committed to the renewal and replacement of the network of air quality monitors by the end of 2022, which will ensure that policy is 
underpinned by accurate data.  

 
Contaminated land: The Council is actively committed to identifying and dealing with damaging pollution of the environment in the city 
within the constraints of national legislation to protect and improve the quality of our environment. The Council’s Contaminated Land 
Strategy details how the Council will fulfil its statutory inspection duty to identify and remediate contaminated land in Cambridge and 
restore it to safe, meaningful and climate resilient use.  
 

Objectives 
The Council has identified a range of environmental objectives relating to its own buildings, vehicles, land, services, and to the wider city 
of Cambridge. 
 
The Council’s medium-term objectives includes to: Promote Cambridge as a sustainable city, in particular by reducing carbon dioxide 
emissions and the amount of waste going into landfill in the city and sub-region.  
 
 
The Council’s Climate Change Strategy 2021-2026 has six objectives which detail how the Council will address the causes and 
consequences of climate change:  
 
1. Reducing carbon emissions from City Council buildings, land, vehicles and services. The Council’s Carbon Management Plan 2021-
2026 will help to deliver the target of reducing direct carbon emissions from its buildings, fleet vehicles and business travel to net zero by 
2030.  
 
2. Reducing energy consumption and carbon emissions from homes and buildings in Cambridge by promoting energy efficiency 
measures, retrofitting homes and buildings, sustainable construction, renewable energy sources, and encouraging behaviour change.  
3. Reducing carbon emissions from transport in Cambridge by promoting sustainable transport, installing electric vehicle charging points 
as part of our Electric Vehicle and Infrastructure Strategy, reducing car travel and traffic congestion, and encouraging behaviour change.  
 

P
age 94

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/3025/contaminated-land-strategy.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/3025/contaminated-land-strategy.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/carbon-management-plan
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/carbon-management-plan


 

4. Reducing consumption of resources, reducing waste, and increasing recycling in Cambridge by piloting household food waste 
collections, reducing single-use plastics, and encouraging behaviour change. 
 
5. Promoting sustainable food by encouraging sustainable food practice and procurement, enabling and celebrating locally grown food, 
promoting behaviour change, and working in partnership with local voluntary and community groups 
 
6. Supporting Council services, residents and businesses to adapt to the impacts of climate change by promoting water efficiency 
measures, retrofitting flood measures, reducing overheating in buildings, increasing biodiversity and increasing the tree canopy cover. 
 
 
 
The Biodiversity Strategy 2022-2030 contains seven objectives which detail how the Council will protect and enhance biodiversity in 
Cambridge: 
 
1. To secure a measurable net gain in biodiversity across the City by 2025 and support the Natural Cambridgeshire Doubling Nature 
Vision by 2030. 
 
2. To ensure designated sites and priority habitats are in good / favourable condition and connected, where possible, to increase 
resilience to a changing climate and contribute to the Cambridge Nature Network. 
 
3. To promote awareness of biodiversity and wellbeing, supporting coordinated action in our communities, businesses and institutions. 
 
4. To ensure that biodiversity is considered by all council service functions and projects. 
 
5. To maximise the potential of our buildings, parks, open spaces, allotments and community gardens, watercourses and tree stock to 
support biodiversity, whilst balancing their multifunctional needs. 

 
6. To harness the wealth of local professional and amateur knowledge and experience in identifying and solving local issues. 
 
7. To establish long term, species and habitat surveys and monitoring to measure the impact of activities and identify new threats and 
opportunities across the city. 
 
The Council’s Tree Strategy 2016-2026 details four aims: 
 
1. To sustainably manage the Council’s own trees and those it manages by agreement.  

P
age 95



 

 
2. To foster a resilient tree population that responds to the impacts of climate change and urban expansion. 

 
3. To raise awareness of trees being a vital community asset, through promoting continued research, through education via the provision 
of advice and through partnership working. 

 
4. To make efficient and strategic use of the Council’s regulatory powers for the protection of trees of current and future value. 
 
 
The Electric Vehicle and Infrastructure Strategy 2019 commits to supporting the uptake of electric vehicles in Cambridge through four 
objectives: 
 
1. To identify sources of funding to develop and install EV Charging infrastructure and where appropriate pursue that funding. 
 
2. To robustly consider EV as a preference for all City Council fleet replacement and new vehicle purchase, where appropriate vehicles 
are available and meet our operational needs. 

 
3. For the City Council to develop a commercial project to deliver charge points in our car parks in the short term and wider property 
holdings in the medium term. 
 
4. To promote funding opportunities and provide support for partner organisations to deliver EV charging infrastructure where they are the 
most appropriate lead (e.g. County Council / on street charging). 
 
 
The Air Quality Action Plan 2018-2023 sets out three priorities for maintaining and improving air quality in the city: 
 
1. Reduce local traffic emissions as quickly as possible to meet National Air Quality Objectives. 
 
2. Maintain pollutant levels below National Air Quality Objectives. 
 
3. Improve public health by reducing population exposure to air pollutants. 
 
 
The Commercial Waste Service (CWS) short-term and long-term strategy identified the following as objectives important for the 
CWS, and the larger Greater Cambridge Waste Service, to achieve: 
 

P
age 96



 

1. Reducing waste to landfill by increasing recycling. 
 
2. Assist businesses and organisations to reduce their carbon emissions through more effective waste management of waste. 
 
3. To reduce the Council’s carbon dioxide emissions and manage the risks to its staff, property and functions, from climate change 
 
 
The Contaminated Land Strategy details the Council’s priorities in detailing with contaminated land: 
 
1.To protect human health 
2.To protect controlled waters 
3.To protect designated ecosystems 
4.To prevent damage to property 
5.To prevent any further contamination of land 
6.To encourage voluntary remediation 
7.To encourage re-use of brownfield land 
 
The Council adopted the current Cambridge Local Plan in 2018 which includes a number of policies designed to ensure that new 
development in Cambridge reduces its environmental impact by minimising carbon emissions, flood risk, pollution and pressure on 
resources such as water and helping to protect and enhance biodiversity including: 
 

• A minimum 19% reduction in carbon emissions on 2013 Building Regulations requirements (now superseded by the latest Building 
Regulations which require a 31% reduction in emissions on 2013). Non-residential development is required to achieve BREEAM 
excellent. 

• Support for the provision of renewable and/or low carbon energy generation, including community energy networks, district heating 
schemes and solar energy. 

• A requirement to prepare sustainability statements as part of planning applications, which sets out how developers will achieve 
carbon reductions through reducing energy demand, energy efficiency measures and on-site renewable energy generation, as well 
as integrating measures into developments to enable them to adapt to our changing climate and water efficiency measures. 

• Water efficiency requirements for all new residential and non-residential development 
• A green belt policy which states that new development in the Green Belt will not be approved except in very special 

circumstances, in line with Green Belt policy in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

P
age 97



 

• A policy to protect the River Cam: development proposals that are situated along the River Cam should where possible enhance 
the natural resources of the River and provide opportunities for renaturalisation of the river 

• Supporting climate change adaptation by requiring that any flat roofs should be a green or brown roof and requiring the use of 
sustainable drainage systems for all new development 

• A policy to support climate change measures in heritage assets 
• Requirements related to electric vehicle charging provision 
• The above measures are supported by guidance in the Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and Construction SPD and 

Biodiversity SPD 
 

Actions 
The Council has a community leadership role and will deliver its vision through its own activities, the services it provides and partnership 
working to demonstrate good practice and encourage residents, businesses and organisations to also take action to reduce 
environmental impacts.  
 
The following environmental issues are identified within the medium-term objectives as priority areas for action: 

• To tackle the causes and consequences of climate change 
• To encourage sustainable waste management 
• To promote more sustainable modes of transport 
• To raise awareness of environmental issues and promote sustainable lifestyles 
• To manage growth to achieve sustainable neighbourhoods 

 
 
The following actions will be taken to reduce the Councils environmental impact and to improve the environment in the City: 
 

Actions to reduce the Council’s environmental impact 
 
 The use of water, energy and carbon dioxide emissions and other greenhouse gases, directly linked to our activities, will be 
reduced. This will include reducing our reliance on fossil fuels to achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2030, increasing the proportion of 
energy coming from low and zero carbon technologies and ensuring the efficient use of energy and water; 

Sustainable travel choices for staff will be enabled and encouraged by incentivising more sustainable forms of employee travel to 
and from the place of work, promoting working arrangements and policies which reduce the requirement to travel and improve work-life 

P
age 98



 

balance, and providing facilities which support alternative sustainable travel options; 

Emissions from our fleet vehicles will be lowered by using technology to optimise fleet routes and purchasing ultra-low emission 
vehicles (vans, trucks, refuse collection vehicles) when they are due for replacement which could lead to a fully electric Council fleet by 
2028;  

 The environmental quality, resilience and performance of our buildings and assets will be improved. We will work with partners 
to promote and facilitate improvements to the environmental performance of our buildings (such as administration buildings, community 
centres and swimming pools) and the wider landscape and public realm across the city to reduce energy consumption, heat loss and 
carbon emissions from these buildings; including through implementing a range of carbon reduction projects and energy efficiency 
measures such as solar PV, air source heat pumps where possible, LED lighting, investing in building fabric such as insulation to reduce 
heat loss and require less heating, and building management control systems to minimise heat and water usage; 

Further investment in our buildings and facilities will be obtained through applying for Government funding and grants (where 
eligible and relevant) to implement further carbon reduction schemes and measures;   

 The environmental quality, resilience and biodiversity of our land, water bodies and landscapes across our city will be 
protected and enhanced including through tree planting, implementing management plans for all City Council owned nature reserves 
and wildlife sites, reducing use of herbicides, and implementing sustainable measures to reduce surface water and river flooding  

An Environmental Management System will be developed and implemented for the Streets & Open spaces team which we will 
seek accreditation to ISO14001, which will help to ensure that biodiversity constraints and opportunities are embedded into the work the 
team undertake and that positive steps for promoting biodiversity are enacted;  

 Regular engagement with businesses and local organisations will focus on the objectives of the Climate Change Strategy, 
working collaboratively and enabling change which supports our net zero carbon vision for Cambridge; 

 All tenderers will be required to demonstrate actions to support our net zero carbon vision for Cambridge and the Council’s net 
zero target, ensuring that all procurements consider the environmental, social and economic well-being of the City and surrounding area, 
in their submissions; 

 Voluntary and community groups will be supported to deliver activities in Cambridge that will help achieve the objectives of the 
Council’s Climate Change Strategy, through the Council’s Sustainable City Grant; 

 Targets will be set, progress reviewed, and we will publish information regularly, where appropriate, including in the council’s 
Annual Climate Change Strategy Report (without duplicating existing reporting processes);  

 Appropriate training, instruction, and supervision to all our employees will be provided such that they are able to perform their 
duties in a way that supports our environment policy and objectives, including mandatory environmental awareness training and 
supplementary net zero carbon training for managers;  

P
age 99



 

Actions to improve the environment in the city 
 
 Air quality in the city will be improved by reducing emissions from traffic through: licensing policies to increase the number of 
electric and hybrid taxis, parking policies, the provision of electric vehicle charge points for residents and taxis, and working with partners 
to reduce the need to travel and provide lower emission travel alternatives, such as low/zero emissions buses; 
 
 The environmental impact of transport and travel will be reduced through our work with the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Combined Authority, Greater Cambridge Partnership, County Council, businesses, organisations and others and we will promote and 
plan for sustainable modes of transport that reduce environmental impacts; 
 

 Waste to landfill will be reduced by encouraging a shift to a circular economy, reducing the use of single-use plastics and packaging, 
continually exploring opportunities to increase the types of material that can be recycled, and increasing recycling rates through 
engagement with residents and businesses. Residents and businesses are actively encouraged to recycle through the provision of free 
kitchen caddies and green bins to residents and through the provision of pricing incentives for commercial customer; 

The quality of recycling will be improved through regular review of reports of contamination to identify frequency of contamination 
and implementing a set education process (including reviewing signage to ensure it is adequate, letters, leaflets and door-knocking) to 
raise awareness and reduce contamination of waste; 

Waste minimisation and recycling will be ensured and promoted through identifying opportunities in the development of the 
Greater Cambridge Local Plan, including the minimisation of construction waste; 

Biodiversity across the city will be enhanced by supporting and working with the Cambridge Nature Network to enhance and link 
core sites through the City, enhancing water sources for fish stocks, promoting the use of retrofit green roofs on garden buildings and 
extensions and establishing grassland restoration trials; 

Brownfield land within the city will be identified and cleaned up where contamination has occurred, it will be restored to safe, 
meaningful and climate resilient use, working in partnership with developers. The redevelopment of brownfield sites reduces the 
pressure on greenfield land and allows for the sustainable use of formerly underdevelopment/derelict land throughout the City; 

Water quality will be restored in chalk streams through the promotion of sustainable management of water resources, working in 
partnership with key stakeholders; 

 Existing Local Plan policies will continue to be implemented on climate change mitigation, water efficiency, sustainable drainage 
systems (SuDS), and permeable paving and surfaces, and will continue to develop policies in the new Greater Cambridge Local Plan to 
deliver net zero carbon buildings, manage water supply and flood risks and address potential overheating and wider climate risks in new 
developments; 

P
age 100



 

The Council will explore how the Greater Cambridge Local Plan can do more to improve natural and semi-natural spaces 
across the Greater Cambridge area including how to make use of new powers to mandate biodiversity net gain, and a proposed 
requirement for new development to deliver a minimum of 20% Biodiversity Net Gain 

Renewable energy generation, the Circular Economy and carbon sequestration will be supported by developing related policies in 
the Greater Cambridge Local Plan;  

The environmental impact of food in Cambridge will be improved by working with local partners and stakeholders in the Cambridge 
Sustainable Food network, to improve the sustainability of food production, consumption and procurement where possible. This includes 
supporting partners in the network to achieve the Sustainable Food Places Silver Award for Cambridge and supporting efforts to pursue 
the Gold Award for the city; 

 Sustainable food will be promoted through engagement with residents and providing grant funding to local projects. This 
includes working collaboratively with partners Cambridge Sustainable Food to raise awareness of the impact of food on carbon emissions 
and promote the benefits of a more sustainable diet, and providing grant funding to sustainable food projects such as CoFarm, who 
engage the community to produce sustainably grown food and distribute it through community food hubs;  

The Council will engage and communicate with residents to build knowledge and awareness about environmental issues. This 
includes information about practical actions to reduce carbon emissions, public health impacts of air quality and guidance on recycling. 
Residents will be encouraged and supported to make choices and decisions with low carbon impacts to reduce their environmental 
impact; 

The Council will engage with local businesses and voluntary and community organisations to share best practice on 
sustainability issues and utilise opportunities to work together to reduce emissions in the city; 

 The Council will work with local partners to protect older people, vulnerable residents and those facing hardship from the 
wider effects of our changing climate, and this will include the impact of fuel and water poverty;  

 This policy statement will be reviewed periodically, and not later than March 2024.  

 This policy will be communicated to everyone working for or on behalf of Cambridge City Council.  
 
Cambridge City Council expects all staff and all residents to protect the environment and take personal responsibility for their actions. The 
Council will work with partners, businesses, organisations and community organisations to help residents, businesses and others 
understand how to protect, maintain and develop the environmental quality of the city.  
 
The Council will use its statutory planning and regulatory powers appropriately to achieve and set high standards of environmental quality 
in the built and natural environment and in the behaviour of organisations, businesses, residents and communities. It will promote the 
outcomes listed above to its partners and to other organisations in the city, including through its contracting and commissioning activities, 

P
age 101



 

where appropriate.  
 
The Council will use its powers to take action where necessary against those who cause harm or detriment to the environmental quality of 
the city. We will set out detailed actions to further the policy goals set out in this statement in our service operational plans.  
 
Signed:  
Robert Pollock  Councillor Rosy Moore  Councillor Anna Smith  
Chief Executive   Executive Councillor   Leader  
Dated:  

Appendix 1 

Key Indicators 
The risk and impact of the climate change and biodiversity emergencies is reduced, as measured by: 

• Number of air quality monitoring points exceeding Nitrogen Dioxide legal limit 
• Direct emissions (tCO2) from council assets and activities 
• Kilogrammes of residual waste per household (black bin) 
• % recycling rate (blue bin) 
• % of all journeys undertaken by bicycle, public transport and on foot 
• Number of electric vehicles in the council’s fleet 
• Number and percentage of ultra-low/electric taxi vehicles licensed 
• Number of low-income households whose homes have been improved with home energy interventions 
• Energy and environmental performance of our housing stock (average RdSAP score) 
• % of homes delivered at Passivhaus level carbon reduction or above (on schemes delivered by the Council’s Housing 

Development Agency) 
• Average Net gain % biodiversity on new Council housing sites 
• Number of private sector homes that have been improved for health and safety and energy standards 
• Volume of herbicide used on managing city streets and open spaces 

City Council environmental targets 
• Reduce the Council’s direct carbon emissions to net zero by 2030 

P
age 102



 

• Secure a measurable net gain in biodiversity across the City by 2025 
• Support the Natural Cambridgeshire Doubling Nature Vision by 2030: to double the area of rich wildlife habitats and green space 

from 8.5% to 17%. 
• Increase tree canopy cover across the City by 2% to 19% by 2030 
• 30% electric or petrol hybrid taxi fleet in Cambridge by 2023 and 100% electric or petrol hybrid taxi fleet by 2028.  
• 100% current regular bus and coach fleet in Cambridge Euro VI or better; all additional buses/coaches to be zero-emission 

capable. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

16 September 2022 

To: 
Councillor Rosy Moore, Executive Councillor for Environment, Climate 
Change and Biodiversity 
Environment & Community Scrutiny Committee, 06/10/2022 

Report by: 

Alex Snelling-Day, Waste Policy, Climate and Environment Team Manager 

Email: alex.snelling-day@scambs.gov.uk 

Jack Howe, Waste Projects Officer 

Email: jack.howe@scambs.gov.uk 

 

Wards affected: 
All 

Not a Key Decision 

1. Executive Summary 
 
The Council Meeting on 21st July 2022 noted:  
 
• That waste and recycling rates have remained remarkably stable  
over the past two years, despite periods of lockdown with most  
workers and school children staying at home plus periods of service  
disruption due to staff shortages. 
 
• That total waste and recyclate per household has reduced over the  
past four years, from 901.09kg per household in 2018/19 to 879.09 kg  
per household in 2021/22. 
 
• That the weight of both residual waste and recycling collected has  
reduced. 
 
• Despite service disruptions to green bin collections the weight of  
green bin waste has increased. 
 
• That blue bin recycling rates have decreased over the past year  
and the proportion of black bin waste has increased as the weight of  Page 105

Agenda Item 8

mailto:alex.snelling-day@scambs.gov.uk
mailto:jack.howe@scambs.gov.uk


residual waste collected has been reduced. 
 
• The waste hierarchy is to reduce, reuse, recycle, recover,  
dispose. 
 
• Reducing the amount of waste going into the residual bin and then  
to landfill is a priority of the shared waste service. 
 
Council requested a report to the next Environment & Community Scrutiny  
committee to consider how this trend in residual waste reduction can be  
maintained and increased over the coming years.” 
 
Following that request and a review of waste data and trends, this report 
concludes that:  
 

 Black bin waste (Kg per household) has reduced back to 2018/19 levels 
after a small rise during the Covid-19 pandemic 

 Blue bin waste (Kg per household) was lower in 2021/22 compared to 
2020/21, aligning with the national trend which was influenced by higher 
levels of home working and schooling at the peak of the pandemic (as 
reflected in the high 2020/21 rates). 

 There are several initiatives ongoing (and planned) to ensure that blue 
bin recycling rates continue to increase, and the trajectory of overall 
waste reduction / prevention is maintained. 

2. Recommendations  
 
The Executive Councillor is recommended to:  
 
Note the analysis of the recycling and waste data recorded during the 
pandemic period and the actions being taken to conduct targeted behavioral 
change campaigns and increase opportunities for reuse, repair and recycling.  
 
 

3. Background 
 
Table 1 shows the trends in black, blue, and green bin tonnages over the 
past four years, represented as total tonnes, kilograms per household and 
percentage of total waste composition: 
 

 

No. of 

HHs
Tonnes Kg/HH %

No. of 

HHs
Tonnes Kg/HH %

No. of 

HHs
Tonnes Kg/HH %

No. of 

HHs
Tonnes Kg/HH %

Residual (black bin waste) 121,320 50,948 419.94 48.93% 123,180 50,221 407.71 49.01% 125,030 53,182 425.35 49.08% 126,840 53,076 418.45 49.50%

Dry Recycling (blue bin) 121,320 24,251 199.89 23.29% 123,180 24,078 195.47 23.50% 125,030 26,377 210.97 24.34% 126,840 23,523 185.45 21.94%

Organic (green bin) 102,847 28,926 281.25 27.78% 110,349 28,175 255.33 27.49% 110,349 28,789 260.89 26.57% 111,278 30,623 275.19 28.56%

Total Recycling rate 51.07% 50.99% 50.91% 50.50%

Totals 104,125 901.09 102,474 858.51 108,347 897.20 107,221 879.09

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Page 106



Table 1: Household recycling and waste tonnages.  

 
As shown in the table, for 2021/22 compared to 2020/21: blue bin recycling 
rates decreased by 2.4%, black bin waste increased by 0.41% and green bin 
waste increased by 1.99%. 
 
The reduction in recycling rate correlates with the national picture where the 
overall recycling and composting rate for 2021/22 (43.8%) went down by 
1.7% when compared to the 44.5% figure of 2020/21 (Source: Defra - waste 
statistics team, 15 December 2021).  
 
There was a drop in recycling in 2021/22 of 2,854Kg (about 25Kg/HH). At the 
peak of the pandemic, dry recyclable materials that would otherwise have 
been collected in schools and offices as commercial waste would have been 
diverted to the kerbside blue bins, due to a significant increase in home 
working and schooling. As a result, the blue recycling collection in 2020/21 
(211Kg/HH) was 15Kg/HH more than the previous year (196Kg/HH). The 
return to school environment, opening up of activities outside of the home 
and partial return to office working has meant some of these materials are 
now back in commercial collections. However, blue bin collection rates have 
not returned to pre-pandemic levels and this is an area of focus for 
campaigns. 
 
Black bin waste per household has decreased in absolute quantity, from 
425.35 Kg/HH in 2020/21 to 418.45 Kg/HH in 2021/22. Black bin waste per 
household in 2021/22 was also similar to 2018/19 levels, with the exception 
of the spike in 2020/21. Overall, the likely contributing factors to the spike in 
black bin tonnages are, an increased amount of materials that had to be 
disposed via the black bin i.e. face-coverings and Covid testing kits, and 
change in ease of access to Household Waste and Recycling Centres 
(changes to booking system/appointments). Service disruptions due to 
continued driver and loader shortages and Covid absences, and the 
consequent messaging about prioritisation of black bin collections (for public 
health reasons) may have also been a contributory factor. The blue bin rates 
follow the change in working and schooling location and show an overall 
reduction in the quantity of dry recyclable materials. 
 
Furthermore, the overall priority is to reduce waste generation and thus waste 
and recycling amounts, rather than focussing on increasing recycling rates. 
Although it is better to divert waste into the blue bin for recycling rather than 
into the black bin for residual management, it's much better to avoid waste 
generation in the first instance. 
 

 4. Planned Actions 
 
 

Page 107



The Waste Policy team is designing behavioural change campaigns which 
are evidence/data based, incorporate the latest in behavioural change theory 
best practise as well as reflect change in national policy from The Resources 
and Waste Strategy (DEFRA December 2018). Although behavioural change 
campaigns can have delayed result and do not guarantee positive outcomes, 
close monitoring and evaluation will refine the approach. The following 
actions are under way to increase recycling rates and reduce residual waste 
generation:     
 
 

1. Review of the Joint Waste Strategy by RECAP (Recycling in 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough) – the review is due to commence at 
the end of this calendar year and will amongst other things consider the 
impacts of the government’s imminent regulations on DRS (deposit 
return systems) and EPR (extended producer responsibility), which will 
have a significant impact on waste collection arrangements. 
 

2. The Shared Waste Service will be implementing the following initiatives: 
 

A. Fostering a Circular Economy 
 

i. Work with Cambridge Carbon Footprint (CCF) to update their 
Circular Cambridge pages and directory of repair shops 

ii. Promote relevant Transition Cambridge & CCF events e.g., 
clothing swaps 

iii. Support setting up of Cambridge Library of Things  
iv. Work with RECAP partners to promote washable nappies, wipes 

& period & incontinence products 
v. Promote refill and reuse initiatives 
vi. Community Action days 

 
B. Prevention and recycling of more food waste 

 
i. Stickers on black bins 
ii. Continuation of separate food waste collections for 9205 

households and monitoring  
iii. Replenish event toolkit 
iv. Promotion of home composting and discounted compost bins 
v. Continued work with Food Hubs / food banks 

 
C. Reducing contamination of dry recycling - streamlining monitoring 

process and feedback to crews 
 

D. Promotion of recycling 
 

i. Work with schools, RECAP, and other partners to deliver 
recycling education Page 108



ii. Attendance at community events 
iii. Advertising 
iv. Welcome pack for new developments 

 
E. Increasing provision for recycling of WEEE (Waste electrical and 

electronic equipment) 
 

i. Installing WEEE collection banks at new locations 
ii. Collection of WEEE from Repair Cafes 
iii. Promotion of new collection banks 

 

3. Implications 

a) Financial Implications 
 
With the aim of eliminating materials entering the waste and recycling 
streams as part of the circular economy this will mean that as blue bin 
tonnages decrease, recycling credits received will change. This could have 
financial implications; however, this is counteracted by the environmental 
impacts noted in section d. 

b) Staffing Implications 
N/A 

c) Equality and Poverty Implications 
N/A 

d) Net Zero Carbon, Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

Waste policy is driven by waste hierarchy and therefore overall reduction of 
materials entering waste and recycling streams.  This supports increased 
environmental performance and transition to Net Zero Carbon and Circular 
Economy. 

e) Procurement Implications 
 
N\A 

f) Community Safety Implications 
 
N/A 

 

4. Consultation and communication considerations 
 
N/A 
 

Page 109



5. Background papers 

 

No background papers were used in the preparation of this report. 

6. Appendices 
 
No appendices 
 
 

Page 110



 

 

REPORT ON PROGRESS OF ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 

NEW APPROACH ON INVESTIGATING NOISE COMPLAINTS 

To: 
Councillor Rosy Moore, Executive Councillor for Environment, Climate 
Change, & Biodiversity 
 
Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee    6th October 2022 
 

Report by: 

Claire Adelizzi, Team Manager – Environmental Health (Residential)  

Tel: 01223 457724 Email: claire.adelizzi@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected: 

All 

 
 
Non Key Decision 

1. Executive Summary 
 

1.1 The Council has a legal duty to investigate statutory nuisance within 

its area under the Environmental Protection Act 1990. However, the 

law does not specify how to exercise this duty, it is therefore the 

responsibility of each Local Authority to establish its own procedures 

for investigating complaints of noise that may amount to statutory 

nuisance. 

 

1.2 At this committee on 27th January 2022, the Executive Councillor 

noted the results of the pro-active and planned Out of Hours Noise 

Service trial that was conducted between 1st October – 31st 

December 2021 and approved the adoption of this proactive and 

Page 111

Agenda Item 9



planned service approach on a permanent basis supported by use of 

evidence gathering technologies and equipment.  
 

1.3 It was also agreed by the Executive Councillor at this committee that 

a further report on progress of Environmental Services new 

approach to investigating noise complaints would be brought to 

committee. 
 

1.4 The Committee is invited to consider this report detailing further 

evaluation of the impact of the Council’s move from a reactive Out of 

Hours Noise Service to one which uses a combination of technology, 

(diary sheets for non-digital customers), and planned use of officer 

time, on the successful investigation of noise complaints including 

almost a full year’s data, (1st October 2021 – 16th September 2022). 
 

2. Recommendations 
 

The Executive Councillor is recommended to: 
 

Note this update report on the Councils new approach on 
investigating noise complaints. 
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 The Councils Environmental Services moved to the new 
investigation procedure in relation to investigating noise complaints 
on 1st October 2021. 

3.2    This new procedure involved a move away from the previous offering 

of customers being able to contact the service out of hours to report 

an initial noise complaint and request a reactive noise witnessing 

visit from a Noise Pollution Officer to the introduction of a revised 

triaging system for ongoing noise complaints.  This revised 

arrangement includes: 

i) Consideration of reported noise disturbance from recordings that 

customers have securely submitted to the Council for assessment 

via ‘The Noise App’ by daytime enforcement officers within 

Environmental Health.  These recordings may relate to noise 

disturbance adversely affecting residents of the city at any time of 

the day or night from both residential and commercial sources. 

Page 112



ii) Any subsequent noise witnessing to establish nuisance in relation to 
an on-going, persistent noise complaint being addressed via use of 
the Councils noise recording equipment installed into customers / 
complainants’ homes, as well as via proactive pre-arranged visits to 
complainants’ properties at a time of day when previous evidence 
gathered has established that they are likely to be being adversely 
affected by noise.  Such proactive pre-arranged visits ensure that the 
existence of a statutory nuisance may be witnessed more efficiently 
at an earlier opportunity in the investigation process. 

 
3.3 Since this date and up to 16th September 2022, there have been a 

total of 579 noise complaints received by the Environmental Health 
Department: 

 
i) 382 of these complaints related to reports of noise from one 

residential property affecting another.   
ii) 176 of these complaints related to reports of noise from a 

commercial premises including industrial, construction & 
demolition. 

iii) 21of these complaints were logged out of hours, (18 in relation 
to noise from one residential property affecting another and 3 
in relation to noise emanating from a commercial premises). 

 
3.4 The above number of noise complaints that were logged out of hours 

by the call handling service, which is provided as part of the 
Council’s Shared CCTV Service with Huntingdonshire District 
Council, continues to demonstrate the notable reduction in the 
number of out of hours noise complaints. 

 
3.5 As acknowledged within the previous committee report, the reduction 

in the number of out of hours noise complaints continues following 
the introduction, promotion and subsequent established use of the 
‘Noise App’ technology by the Council. 

 
3.6 By way of comparison table 1 below indicates the number of both out 

of hours and daytime calls received in previous years, prior to the 
adoption of the Councils new noise complaint investigation 
procedure including promotion and use of the ‘Noise App’.   

 
 

 

Page 113



Table 1: Total number of out of hours noise & daytime reports 

of noise to the Council between 1st October 2018 and 30th 

September 2021: 

 

Year Noise reports received 

out of hours 

 

Daytime noise reports 

received 

2018/19 1390 383 

 2019/20 1052 526 

 2020/21 304 635 

 2021/22 21 579 

 
 
3.7 Where there would have been a larger number of out of hours noise 

reports to the former reactive Out of Hours Noise Service in previous 
years as shown above, in 2021 / 22, figure 1 below shows that since 
the Council first started to use the ‘Noise App’ technology in 
November 2020 these have continued to translate into in excess of 
1000 noise recordings securely submitted by those customers who 
have actioned the Councils recommendation to engage with ‘The 
Noise App’ to record incidents of ongoing noise disturbance 
adversely affecting them.  Daytime Investigating Officers then work 
to assess these on a case-by-case basis as part of the new noise 
complaint investigation procedure. 

 
 Figure 1: ‘Noise App’ Recordings received by the Council 1st 

October 2021 – 16th September 2022 inc. breakdown of noise 
source that complainants have specified 

 
  

Page 114



 
 

 
 

3.8 It is re-assuring that the figure relating to the 579 recorded noise 
complaints made during daytime office hours across this period also 
clearly indicates that customers are still approaching the Council to 
make noise complaints as necessary. 

 
3.9 Prior to 1st October 2021 the Council’s ‘Pollution, noise & nuisance’ 

web pages were updated to reflect the service changes; and the 
following internal and external stakeholders were briefed on the 
changes, including the Councils Customer Services, (CSC), the 
Councils shared CCTV out of hours call handling service, City 
Homes Housing Officers, the Anti-Social Behaviour Team and 
Cambridgeshire Police. 

 
3.10 In relation to the 579 noise complaints received across this period 

the following breakdown of actions and outcomes have been 
recorded onto the Environmental Health database system, Tascomi, 
in relation to these: 

 

Noise Complaint specific action codes: 

 ‘Noise App’ referrals = 120 

Noise Diary sheets issued = 19 

Page 115



 Noise recording equipment installed = 34 

 Noise office hours proactive visit = 68 

 Noise out of hours proactive visit = 21 

  

Noise Complaint Additional Specific Outcome Codes: 

Advice Given NFA = 16 

Resolved Informally = 63 

Investigation no nuisance = 83 

Referred to the Neighborhood Resolution Panel Service, (NPRS) = 

15 

Referred to City Homes = 12 

 
Referred to Anti-Social Behavior Team, (ASB) = 5 

Referred to other agency / business = 6 

 
3.11 The above outcome codes are those which have been recorded against 

noise complaints received between 1st October 2021 and 16th 
September 2022 that have subsequently been completed / closed by 
Environmental Health.  It is important to note that there are still a 
number of these complaints that are in progress within the department. 

 
3.12 It is important to note that during this period there have not been any 

formal complaints made to the Council in relation to customer 

dissatisfaction of the new approach to the investigation of noise 

complaints. 
 

3.13 Since the adoption of the proactive and planned service approach on a 

permanent basis the following successful outcomes have been secured 

in relation to the Council’s investigation and enforcement of noise 

complaints as follows: 

 
i) Service of 4 noise abatement notices in respect of established 

noise nuisance; with the existence of statutory nuisance in each 

case from one residential property affecting another being 

Page 116



determined from ‘Noise App’ recordings and via noise recording 

equipment installed. 

ii) Seizure of noise making equipment in respect of 2 of the above 

cases in respect of persistent noise nuisance leading to breach of 

the noise abatement notices that had been served in these cases. 

 
3.14 This new approach to noise complaint investigation is in line with what 

other comparator local authorities are providing and continues to enable 

the Council to realise efficiency savings, while maintaining a good 

quality service and fulfilling its statutory duty in respect of investigation 

of noise disturbance that is adversely affecting residents of the city. 

 

4. Implications 
 
a) Financial Implications 

 
The move away from a reactive Out of Hours Noise Service in terms of 
witnessing of noise disturbance previously led to 1.5 FTE Noise Pollution 
Officer vacant posts being offered up as a £75,000.00 saving last year. 
 
b) Staffing Implications 

 
the Residential Team within Environmental Services now has a full 
complement of team resource. 
 
c) Equality and Poverty Implications 

 
N/A as this report is to note with no decision to make. 
 
d) Net Zero Carbon, Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

 
There are no climate change or environmental related implications 
associated with this policy therefore the overall rating is ‘Nil’. 

 
e) Procurement Implications 

 
None. 
 
f) Community Safety Implications 

 
No additional community safety implications are envisaged in relation to 
this proposal.  The existing daytime noise service remains to action 

Page 117



customer complaints including providing advice and support to them in 
conjunction with relevant internal and external stakeholders as necessary.  
The Council’s out of hours call handling service, (CCTV), continue to log 
reports of noise made to the Council outside of office hours including 
offering customers appropriate signposting as necessary in relation to 
matters relating to their immediate safety. 
 

 

5. Consultation and communication considerations 
 

There is no requirement for any consultation in relation to this service area 
transformation review.  Prior to the adoption of the new noise complaint 
investigation procedure the Council’s ‘Pollution, noise & nuisance’ web 
pages and were updated along with internal and external stakeholders 
including the Councils Customer Service Centre (CSC), City Homes 
Housing Officers, the Antisocial behaviour team and Cambridgeshire 
Police being briefed about this change. 
 

 

6. Background papers 
 

Background papers used in the preparation of this report: None. 

 

 

7. Appendices 
 

None. 
 

8. Inspection of papers 
 
To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact Claire Adelizzi, Team Manager - Residential, tel: 01223 
457724, email: Claire.adelizzi@cambridge.gov.uk. 

Page 118

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/pollution-noise-and-nuisance

	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 30/06/2022 Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee
	Minutes


	6 Waterbeach Renewable Energy Network (WREN) Solar Project
	7 Climate Change Strategy and Carbon Management Plan Annual Report 2021/22
	Item
	1. Executive Summary
	3. Background
	11.  Implications
	a) Financial Implications
	b) Staffing Implications
	c) Equality and Poverty Implications
	d) Net Zero Carbon, Climate Change and Environmental Implications
	e) Procurement Implications
	f) Community Safety Implications

	12.  Consultation and communication considerations
	13. Background papers
	14. Appendices
	15. Inspection of papers

	Vision
	Commitments
	Objectives
	Actions
	Actions to reduce the Council’s environmental impact
	Actions to improve the environment in the city

	Appendix 1
	Key Indicators
	City Council environmental targets


	8 Response to Question on Recycling Rates/Residual Waste
	9 Report on Progress of Environmental Services New Approach on Investigating Noise Complaints

